
MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE:  1/19/2016 
REGULAR  #16 

MOTION  

AGENDA ITEM: High Pointe Sign Variance – IRET Properties, 8650 Hudson Blvd  

SUBMITTED BY: Stephen Wensman, Planning Director 

THROUGH:  Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 

REVIEWED BY: Joan Ziertman 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Report/Presentation .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................................ Mayor Facilitates 
- Public Input, if Appropriate ................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
- Call for Motion .............................................................................. Mayor & City Council 
- Discussion ..................................................................................... Mayor & City Council 
- Action on Motion .................................................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

Staff and the Planning Commission are recommending the City Council to approve a variance 

request from IRET properties for a 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance from the Eagle Point 

Business Park Exterior Sign Design Agreement to allow a 35‐foot high, 16‐foot wide pylon sign with 

the following motion: 

“Move to adopt Resolution 2016-05 approving the 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance 
request at 8650 Hudson Blvd. to allow for a 35-foot high, 16-foot wide pylon sign at the High 

Pointe Medical Campus. 

BACKGROUND AND STAFF REPORT:  

The Eagle Point Business Park Planned Unit Development was platted in 1999 with the Eagle Point 

Business Park Exterior Sign Design Agreement which identified the zoning standards for the 

development, including signage.  Based on the Agreement, pylon signs are allowed and can have a 

width of 12’ and a height of 25’, or 30’ depending on the interpretation. To complicate matters, 

sometime in the past Planning Staff prepared a written summary of the Eagle Point standards and 

determined that sign height was to be determined on a case‐by‐case basis.  The applicant is seeking 

the sign to improve visibility for its multiple medical tenants. 

In order to approve a variance, the applicant must demonstrate compliance with 4 required 

findings: 



1) Practical Difficulties

2) Unique Circumstances

3) Character of the Locality

4) Adjacent Properties and Traffic

Staff reviewed the application and determined that the variance request met the 4 required 

findings.  Additional detail about this review can be found in the Staff Report to the Planning 

Commission. 

PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT: 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing and reviewed the proposed variance on January 11, 

2016.  During the public hearing, no testimony was received and no other written comments were 

submitted to staff. The Planning Commission discussed the need for the sign, issues related to 

wayfinding, sign lighting, potential future driveway and site development, and the sign’s potential 

effect on cut‐through traffic in Park Dental’s parking lot. After discussion of the proposed pylon sign 

and the requested variance, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the variance 

request (Vote: ___) based on the findings in the staff report for this item. Further detail of the 

Planning Commission discussion can be found in the draft Planning Commission minutes.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff and the Planning Commission are recommending the City Council to approve a variance 

request from IRET properties for a 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance from the Eagle Point 

Business Park Exterior Sign Design Agreement to allow a 35‐foot high, 16‐foot wide pylon sign with 

the following motion: 

“Move to adopt Resolution 2016-05 approving the 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance 
request at 8650 Hudson Blvd. to allow for a 35-foot high, 16-foot wide pylon sign at the High 

Pointe Medical Campus. 

ATTACHMENT(S):  

 Resolution 2016‐__

 Draft Planning Commission Minutes 1/11/16

 Planning Commission Staff Report 1/11/16

 Applicant’s Written Statement

 Exhibits C–H to Written Statement

 Site Survey

 Adjacent Pylon photos

 Letters of Support

 Eagle Point Development Standards



Resolution No. 2016-05 1

CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
WASHINGTON  COUNTY 
STATE OF MINNESOTA 

RESOLUTION NO 2016-05 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A 5 FOOT HEIGHT AND 4 FOOT WIDTH VARIANCE TO 
ALLOW FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 35-FOOT TALL 16-FOOT WIDE PYLON SIGN AT  

8650 HUDSON BLVD. 

WHEREAS, the City of Lake Elmo is a municipal corporation organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, IRET Properties, on behalf of High Pointe Health Campus has submitted 
an application to the City of Lake Elmo (the "City") for a 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance 
to allow for a permanent 35 foot high, 16 foot wide pylon sign at the High Pointe Health 
Campus, 8650 Hudson Boulevard,  

WHEREAS,  notice has been published , mailed and posted pursuant to the Lake Elmo 
Zoning Ordinance, Section 154.109; and 

WHEREAS, the Lake Elmo Planning Commission held a public hearing on said matter 
on January 11, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the Lake Elmo Planning Commission has submitted its report and 
recommendation to the City Council as part of a Staff Memorandum dated January 19, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered said matter at its January 19, 2016 meeting. 

NOW, THEREFORE, based on the testimony elicited and information received, the 
City Council makes the following: 

FINDINGS 

1) That the procedures for obtaining said Variance are found in the Lake Elmo
Zoning Ordinance, Section 154.109.

2) That all the submission requirement s of said Section 154.109 have been met by
the Applicant.

3) That the proposed variance includes the following components:

a) A 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance to allow for a permanent 35 foot high,
16 foot wide pylon sign at the High Pointe Health Campus, 8650 Hudson
Boulevard.

4) That the Variance will be located on property at 8650 Hudson Boulevard, Washington
County, Minnesota with the following PID: 33.029.21.44.0007.

5) That the strict enforcement of Zoning Ordinance would cause practical difficulties and
that the property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not



Resolution No. 2016-05 2

permitted. Specific Findings: Increasing the allowed height from 30-foot to 35-foot and 
the width from 12-foot to 16-foot for a pylon sign represents a reasonable use of the 
property. The property is zoned Business Park and is surrounded by other commercial 
uses. A larger nonconforming pylon sign exists adjacent to the site. Visibility to the site is 
difficult and identification of the multiple tenants is also reasonable. The variance is in 
keeping with the intent of the City’s sign ordinance: to foster high quality commercial 
and industrial development and to enhance economic development of existing businesses 
and industries by promoting reasonable, orderly, attractive and effective signs that meet 
the need for business identification, advertising and communication. Staff determines 
that this criterion is met.  

6) The plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique to the property not created by the
landowner. Specific Findings:  The site, lot layout, and the poor visibility from Hudson
Boulevard and Interstate 94 are unique and not circumstances created by the landowner.
The Crossroads Collision and Park Dental buildings sit in front of the High Point Health
facility limiting visibility. The facility sits to the rear of the site, the flat buildable area,
leaving little physical presence on the Hudson Boulevard frontage. The restrictive sign
design guidelines were created by the developer and approved by the City of Lake Elmo,
not the current land owner/applicant. Staff determines that this criterion is met.

7) The proposed variance will not alter the essential character of the locality in which the
property in question is located.  Specific Findings:  The location of the property and
surrounding properties are within the Business Park, or are Commercial zoning. There
exists one other pylon sign within the locality, and others beyond that are larger and are
noncompliant with the City’s sign ordinance. The Eagle Point Business Park Agreement
does allow a pylon sign. Staff determines that this criterion is met.

8) The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to property
adjacent to the property in question or substantially increase the congestion of the public
streets or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  Specific
Findings: The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to any
properties adjacent to the proposed pylon sign site. The proposed pylon sign is located on
an undeveloped portion of the applicant’s lot. The presence of the sign will not present
additional congestion on public streets, or substantially diminish or impair property values
within the neighborhood. Staff determines that this criterion is met.

CONCLUSIONS AND DECISION 

Based on the foregoing, the Applicant's application for a Variance is granted. 

Passed and duly adopted this 19th day of January, 2016 by the City Council of the City of Lake 
Elmo, Minnesota. 

 ________________________________
Mayor Mike Pearson 



Resolution No. 2016-__ 3

ATTEST: 

 ______________________________
_Julie Johnson
City Clerk



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
________________ 

IRET Properties  a subsidiary of Investors Real Estate Trust • 10050 Crosstown Circle, Suite 105 • Eden Prairie, MN 55344-3349 
   Phone: 952.401.4831 • Fax: 952.401.7058 • Email:dgrant@iret.com • www.iret.com • NYSE Symbol: IRET

December 1, 2015 

Mr. Stephen Wensman 

City of Lake Elmo 

3800 Laverne Avenue North 

Lake Elmo, Minnesota  55042 

Re: Land Use Application – Variance; High Pointe Medical Campus 

Dear Mr. Wensman: 

Enclosed please find the following: 

1. Land Use Application – Variance

a. Exhibit A to application – property location and legal description

b. Exhibit B to application – detailed reason for request, with Exhibits

c. Exhibit C to application – practical difficulties related to application

2. Non-refundable fee in the amount of $750.00 for processing the application

3. Written Statements (a-i as defined in the application) with the Exhibits A-H attached

4. Verification of ownership; title insurance commitment from Stewart Title

5. Certified list of property owners located within 350’ of the property and certified by a licensed

abstractor; provided by Commercial Partners Title 

6. Property survey:

a. Ten (10) 11x17 copies

b. One (1) full size copy

Please contact me if you have any questions about this application. 

Sincerely, 

Dawn Grant, CCIM, CPM, RPA 

Director of Commercial Asset Management 

Enclosures 

Cc: Mayor Pearson 













Exhibit A to Land Use Application/Variance 

High Pointe Health Campus 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership 

 

Address: 

8650 Hudson Boulevard, Lake Elmo, Minnesota  55042   

 

PID: 

33.029.21.44.0007 

 

Legal Description: 

All that part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 29 North, 

Range 21 West, Washington County, Minnesota, described as follows: 

 
Commence at the Southeast corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 

40 seconds West, along the East line of said Southeast Quarter, a distance of 435.61 feet to the 

POINT OF BEGINNING; continue thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West, along said 

East line, a distance of 483.26 feet, thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West a distance 

of 683.24 feet; thence South 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East a distance of 423.69 feet; 

thence Westerly 123.88 feet along the arc of a non-tangential curve concave to the South whose 

radius is 230.00 feet and whose chord bears South 83 degrees 51 minutes 07 seconds West; thence 

South 68 degrees 24 minutes 49 seconds West a distance of 102.81 feet to a point on the Northerly 

right of way line of Hudson Blvd.; thence Southeasterly,  along said Northerly right of way a distance 

of 421.73 feet along the arc of a non-tangential  curve concave to the Northeast whose radius is 

768.51 feet and whose chord bears South 52 degrees 53 minutes 56 seconds East; thence North 00 

degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a distance of 176.36 feet; thence North 89 degrees 35 minutes 

53 seconds East a distance of 175.00 feet; thence South 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds East a 

distance of 223.25 feet to a point on the Northerly right of way line of Hudson Blvd.; thence 

Southeasterly, along said Northerly right of way line a distance of 53.13 feet along the arc of a non-

tangential curve concave to the North, whose radius is 768.51 feet and whose chord bears South 84 

degrees 06 minutes 58 seconds East; continue thence South 86 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds East 

a distance of 141.01 feet; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a distance of 

301.88 feet; thence North 89 degrees 35 minutes 53 seconds East a distance of 200.00 feet to the 

POINT OF BEGINNING and there terminating. 

 



Exhibit B to Land Use Application/Variance 

High Pointe Health Campus 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership 

 

 

Detailed Reason for Request: 

Applicant is making this application for a variance to allow for the installation of a pylon sign at 

the southernmost portion of the property previously described, along Hudson Boulevard, 

approximately as shown on Exhibit B-1 attached hereto. 

High Pointe Medical Campus is part of the Eagle Point Business Park PUD exterior sign design 

which provides for a pylon sign of approximately 30’ in height and 12’ in width.  Applicant is 

requesting a variance from this approximate height and width requirement to a pylon sign of 

35’ in height and 16’ in width, at a value of approximately $100,450.00.  A drawing is attached 

as Exhibit B-2 and a photograph depicting the proposed location is attached as Exhibit B-3. 

 

 



Approximate location of sign 

Exhibit B-1 - Location of sign on property



Exhibit B-2:  Drawing of sign



Exhibit B-3:  photoshop location of sign



Exhibit C to Land Use Application/Variance 

High Pointe Health Campus 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership 

 

 

Practical Difficulties related to this application 

 

High Pointe Medical Campus was developed originally as part of a larger health care campus.  

The current building is the initial medical building completed without other properties having 

been developed as originally proposed.  It has poor visibility and access.  The patients of the 

clinics/surgery center in the building have difficulty locating the building.  Further, the lack of 

visibility of the building from the frontage road and I-94 provides for no marketing opportunity 

for the clinics/surgery center.  These factors have also impeded leasing of the vacancies in the 

building while trying to compete with the locations in the City of Woodbury just across the 

freeway.  Signage is being proposed in order to provide visibility to compete in the current 

marketplace. 

The current sign design plan for the Eagle Point Business Park PUD Agreement provides for a 

pylon sign of approximately 30’ in height and 12’ in width.   This is not feasible given the 

topography of the site and would not achieve the kind of height required to be visible from the 

frontage road, but more importantly from I-94.  In order to accommodate the existing tenants 

and an additional prospective tenant, the width also needs to increase so that the names are 

appropriately legible from a distance. 

Therefore a variance is being requested to increase the height by 16.5% to 35’ and the width by 

33% to 16’. 

 

 



  
 

Written Statements to Land Use Application/Variance 

High Pointe Health Campus 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership 

 

a) A list of all current property owners 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership, a limited 

partnership under the laws of North Dakota 

    

b) A listing of following site data:  legal description of property, parcel identification number(s), parcel 

size (in acres and square feet), existing use of land and current zoning 

 Legal description:  see attached Exhibit A to Written Statements 

 Parcel identification number(s):  33.029.21.44.0007 

 Parcel size (acres and square feet):  10.464 acres and 455,831 square feet 

 Existing use of land:  3-story brick medical office building with parking lot and vacant land 

 Current zoning district:  BP – Business Park/Light Manufacturing per City of Lake Elmo 

Zoning Map; see attached Exhibit B to Written Statements 

 

c) State the provisions(s) of the Lake Elmo City Code for which you seek a variance 

Variance being considered according to the provisions of §154.017.  Variance from the 

approved Eagle Pointe Business Park PUD, which is in essence the zoning district.  A variance is 

from the negotiated sign regulations in the PUD Agreement.  Please refer to a letter from the 

City of Lake Elmo (Mr. Kyle Klatt) attached to Exhibit C to Written Statements.  

    

d) A specific written description of the proposal and how it varies from the applicable provisions of Lake 

Elmo Code 

 The Eagle Point Business Park PUD exterior sign design provides for a tenant pylon sign, at 

approximately 30’ in height and 12’ in width.  Due to topography of the site and to achieve the 

amount of panels needed for High Pointe Medical Campus, a pylon sign of 35’ in height and 16’ 

in width is being proposed.  Please refer to Exhibits B-2 and B-3 attached detailed reason for 

request as part of this land use application. 

 

e) A narrative regarding any pre-application discussions with staff, and an explanation of how the issue 

was addressed leading up to the application for a variance 

Dawn Grant of IRET Properties and Steve Hirtz of Nordquist Signs met with Nick Johnson of the 

City of Lake Elmo Planning Department on January 14, 2015 to discuss the possibility of 

increasing the size of a pylon sign along Hudson Boulevard, which would be a variance from the 

negotiated sign regulations in the Eagle Point Business Park PUD Agreement that governs the 

High Pointe Medical Campus (HPMC).  In meeting with Mr. Johnson was provided a proposed 

sign drawing (at 35’ in height and 18’ in width) and Dawn Grant discussed hardship of visibility 

and competition of the City of Woodbury’s more visible properties for patients of the HPMC 

tenants.  Mr. Johnson agreed to take it under advisement.  On January 15, 2015, Mr. Johnson 

stated that our initial request was a 16% variance in height, but more than a 50% variance in 

width and requested a revision to our initial drawing.  We provided a revised drawing on January 



  
 

30, 2015, attempting to work within the PUD’s approximate approved height and width of 30’ 

and 12’ respectively, while trying to achieve what the property needs, and therefore created a 

revised drawing of 38’ in height and 16’ wide, a 27% and 33% variance respectively.  Mr. Johnson 

asked that a lower height sign was considered and a revised drawing was submitted for 35’ in 

height.  On February 9, 2015, Mr. Johnson indicated that he would meet with other staff and 

provide feedback.  On February 20, 2015, after meeting with other staff members, Mr. Johnson 

provided in an e-mail that “the 35' feet in height will work.  In addition, the proposed width 

should also work.  Please note that this interpretation is based on the approved Eagle Point 

Business Park Sign Plan which allows for approximately 30 feet in heights and approximately 12 

feet in width”.  In response to this e-mail, Dawn Grant indicated that IRET would meet with the 

tenants of the building and inquired if a permit application was the next step.  Mr. Johnson 

responded by e-mail that applying for a permit application would be the next step.  This 

sequence of e-mails is attached as Exhibit D to Written Statements.  In light of this approval from 

Mr. Johnson through mid-July, IRET worked with existing and prospective tenants to ascertain 

locations on the proposed sign.  On July 23, 2015, Nordquist Sign (Steve Hirtz) applied for the 

permit application as was documented in the February 20, 2015 e-mail from Mr. Johnson.  After 

not hearing a response (both e-mail and voice mail) for several days, Steve Hirtz contacted the 

City of Lake Elmo on August 3, 2015 and was notified that Mr. Johnson was no longer employed 

there and Steve Hirtz was assigned to Kyle Klatt as the new planning department representative.  

Steve Hirtz resent the permit application, along with the e-mail correspondence from Mr. 

Johnson that provided approval subject to the permit application, and after waiting for several 

weeks, Dawn Grant contacted Mr. Klatt as to the status on August 25, 2015 of the permit 

application.  On September 2, 2015, Mr. Klatt denied the sign permit application and provided 

a formal letter (attached as Exhibit E to Written Statements) and an e-mail correspondence with 

options for pursuing alternative signage options (attached as Exhibit F to Written Statements).  

Dawn Grant contacted Mayor Pearson to discuss the situation of the length of time for 

responses and asked the City of Lake Elmo to honor the original approval by Mr. Johnson.  

Apparently after internal discussions, the denial was not going to change and September 23, 

2015, Mr. Klatt again denied the permit application and required that either a variance 

application or zoning appeal should be applied for.  In several e-mail and voice mails following 

this e-mail from Mr. Klatt, Dawn Grant asked Mr. Klatt for guidance on which of the applications 

was more applicable.  After no response, sometime in October, Dawn Grant contacted Mayor 

Pearson again as to not being able to get a response from Mr. Klatt and was informed that Mr. 

Klatt was leaving the City of Lake Elmo in early November.  Dawn Grant was then given the name 

of Ben Gozola, a temporary planning staff member to work with on the process.  Mr. Gozola 

deferred the question to Steve Wensman, a new planner who would start on November 2, 2015.  

Mr. Gozola and Mr. Wensman discussed the issue and on November 6, 2015, Mr. Wensman 

answered the question of which application process was more applicable and asked that a 

variance application be filed.   

f) Explain why the strict enforcement of this chapter would cause practical difficulties because of 

circumstances unique to the individual property under consideration 

The property was developed originally as part of a larger health care campus.  The current 

building is the initial medical building completed without other properties developed and 

therefore has poor visibility and access.  The patients of the clinics/surgery center in the building 

have difficulty locating the building.  Further, the lack of visibility of the building from the 



  
 

frontage road and more importantly from I-94, provides for no marketing opportunity for the 

clinics/surgery center.  These factors have also impeded leasing of the vacancies in the building, 

with the 45,721 square foot building standing at 24.5% vacant which is far under the market for 

medical office buildings in the surrounding market.  The signage proposed would provide the 

visibility that is necessary in order to compete effectively.   A minimum of four panels is required 

for current tenants, leaving one available for prospective tenant of the remaining vacancy.  In 

order to provide identity of the campus, as well as readable sign panels for each tenant while 

being able to see the sign visibly from both the frontage road and I-94, the 35’ proposed is 

necessary.  In preparing for the initial meeting, both Dawn Grant and Steve Hirtz spent a great 

deal of time ascertaining the right height in order to achieve the level of visibility necessary 

(otherwise the sign at a lower height would simply not achieve what is necessary).  It is the 

opinion of the applicant that the viability of the building and tenant’s future success in the City 

of Lake Elmo depends in part on the pylon sign approval.  Two of the major tenants in the 

building (High Pointe Surgery Center and Twin Cities Orthopedics) have provided letters of 

support and justification for the pylon sign.  Please find these letters attached Exhibit G and H 

to the Written Statements.  

   

g) Explain why the plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique to the property and not created 

by the landowner 

 High Pointe Medical Campus (HPMC) is not in the heart of the local medical community; which 

is located mostly in Woodbury.  The City of Woodbury has been and continues to be the 

strongest competition to the City of Lake Elmo.  Many prospective tenants have not considered 

HPMC because it has a Lake Elmo address.  Even though less than a mile from Woodbury and as 

accessible from I-94, tenants such as an independent pediatrics clinic were in the market for 

space and chose not to consider HPMC because it was not in the City of Woodbury.  To further 

exacerbate the current market conditions, there are new medical office buildings and two new 

surgery centers announced in the City of Woodbury (Tria Orthopedics and Summit Orthopedics).  

One of HPMC’s major tenants is St. Croix Orthopaedics, a division of Twin Cities Orthopedics, 

who want to grow their presence and compete head on, are planning on providing urgent care 

services in 2016, but feel strongly that without signage visibility, they cannot effectively 

compete.  HPMC’s largest tenant, High Pointe Surgery Center serves not just the local 

community but throughout the Twin Cities and greater Minnesota.  One of the main issues facing 

their continued success is visibility and patient access.  IRET Properties currently has two 

prospects to lease the remaining vacancy and increase the viability of HPMC, who have both 

indicated they will not consider HPMC without the approved pylon sign. 

    

h) Justify that granting of the variance would not alter the essential character of the neighborhood 

The proposed sign is tasteful and the only thing in question is the height and width of the sign.  

Given the proposed location, it provides visibility from I-94 and the frontage road without 

impeding the neighborhood.  The installation of the proposed sign has no different affect than 

an existing pylon sign on the neighboring property to the west.  Please refer to the proposed 

location photo attached to the detailed reason for request exhibit of this land use application. 

  



  
 

 

i) Justify that granting of the variance will not impair adequate light and air to adjacent properties and 

that it will not substantially increase the congestion of public streets or substantially diminish or impair 

property values in the neighborhood 

The proposed sign at 35’ in height and 16’ in width will not cause any impairment to light and 

air, and will not cause congestion.  Please refer to the proposed location photo attached to the 

detailed reason for request exhibit of this land use application.  The property values of the 

neighboring properties with existing signage available on the frontage road, will not be 

diminished in value; it cannot have an affect on what already exists.  The only probably affect 

on property values would be an increase in value of HPMC when fully occupied and the 

possibility of an addition to the existing building if additional tenants are achieved or existing 

tenants expand.   



Exhibit A to Written Statements – Legal Description  

Land Use Application/Variance 

High Pointe Health Campus 

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership 

All that part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 29 

North, Range 21 West, Washington County, Minnesota, described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence North 00 degrees 00 

minutes 40 seconds West, along the East line of said Southeast Quarter, a distance of 

435.61 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; continue thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 

seconds West, along said East line, a distance of 483.26 feet, thence North 90 degrees 00 

minutes 00 seconds West a distance of 683.24 feet; thence South 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 

seconds East a distance of 423.69 feet; thence Westerly 123.88 feet along the arc of a non-

tangential curve concave to the South whose radius is 230.00 feet and whose chord bears 

South 83 degrees 51 minutes 07 seconds West; thence South 68 degrees 24 minutes 49 

seconds West a distance of 102.81 feet to a point on the Northerly right of way line of 

Hudson Blvd.; thence Southeasterly,  along said Northerly right of way a distance of 421.73 

feet along the arc of a non-tangential  curve concave to the Northeast whose radius is 768.51 

feet and whose chord bears South 52 degrees 53 minutes 56 seconds East; thence North 00 

degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a distance of 176.36 feet; thence North 89 degrees 35 

minutes 53 seconds East a distance of 175.00 feet; thence South 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 

seconds East a distance of 223.25 feet to a point on the Northerly right of way line of 

Hudson Blvd.; thence Southeasterly, along said Northerly right of way line a distance of 

53.13 feet along the arc of a non-tangential curve concave to the North, whose radius is 

768.51 feet and whose chord bears South 84 degrees 06 minutes 58 seconds East; continue 

thence South 86 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds East a distance of 141.01 feet; thence 

North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a distance of 301.88 feet; thence North 89 

degrees 35 minutes 53 seconds East a distance of 200.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING 

and there terminating. 



4751

2525

1786

1515

1876
11455

10880

901

8281

8251

2298

4564

3501

5500

9941

10321

11455

10380

9130

9075

10105

456

10190

616

11530

11332

9524

5235

3150

11421

9579

2641

8280

8940

9109

901 820

9591

2500

8989

11490

8775

10386

9434

5193

2490

520

10112

11351

4670

8770

4452

10711

9200

11975

5275

10193

11980

4370

9140

3045

3855

54155435

10240

5825

1412

9940

8465

9070

11211

4212

11260

8866

2685

8555

9057

5200

4950

4890

9825

5295

5900

5699

10830

81558135

8989

12058

9765

5250

5222

3503

5761

11351

8650

1304

10550

5749

11260

3360

5230

4890

5545

4755

10472

4890

4690

5255

4455

2450

3691

3870

9999

4620

5471

4596

8955
9255

3467

5135

5040

9200 9220

5190

8975

5429

8970

1069910579 107591063910519

8740

10231

4779

4525

928

872

814

760

704

10133

11330

8291

8268

3000

10755

10350

9696

12202

10732

10875

750

11491

11658

11050

10830

11311

11255

11514

10689

5220

3655

11817

11180

11165

4384

11347

9495

11240

9524

9585

9535

655

8243

11980

8400

11678

8243

781

5615

10120

8470

9447

9765

10824

11465

723

2901

855

10323

5416

8450

11989

8633

4424

9393

5414

2244

687

9440

8633

11790

921

2895

8006

3082

8141

9425

3681

8552

11144

11530

11459

5427

9242

5760

5300

5230

8420

5170

5110

9265

8271

975

5577

8530

4454

3536

5660

8430

5630

4375

4477

5050

5240

11580

5055

5272

8171

1532

8863

8810

11415

9345

2270

2767

5638

5080

8707

8042

4989

3036

5750

3077

11361

8737

8565

9155

1543

4550

9844

11530

10550

9759

9480

876

5247

9521

9498

3303

561

8519

9494

3733

10092

859

8515

820

9605

8449

8080

812

790

755

873

8420

914

2678

8550

9800

832

483

3554

4201

577

8321

883

2906

747

3817

521

5014

8319

868

8411

2890

3560

11011

5257

3455

8394

2656

772

2813

697

772

617

820

785

854

968

724

858

881
867

371

650 665

331

3812

418

887

875

488
568

605

877

974

429

871

770

220

694

829

5629

978

3505

84578367

585

9876

5673

10841

8879

5011

9250

3880

3520

9830

8281

2811

9605

2749

9260

5367
9655

8996

9389

5290

4415

2696

8028

9855

3548

5337

9380
5274

9636

9652

3280

8884

11825

9747

5715

8800

2580

5791

8255

9784

11676

3592

9571

3669

3663

5170

2269

9692

2618
8364

9580

9612

8620

8226

9393

9618

9965

9481

9873

9120

2528

2798

3793

2737

2760

8468

2119

3432

2677

9744

5277

11325

8284

9323

8241

3443

8120

8165

9395

9568

9163

10021

8382

3200

5611

9250

9343

8154

10015

8611

9386

8215

5424

2296

5855

9961

9400

3080

1535

9391

8414

9715

8151

8410

3435

9387

2699

9486

9798

9719

8454

8125

8180

2850

9768

9275

9710

4990

9251

989098349670 9940

9875
9543

9895

9179

9896

3424

9106

9805

2038

2769

9800

2841

3584

9314

8119

9073

8680

8134

5324

3033

2655

9455

9034

3572

1509

4026

9123

8074

8311

8340

8219

8047

8206

8271

9515

9576 9589

8260

8263

8276

9023

9945

9170

8335

8330

1521

9960

9855

8585

5307

8945

802

11343

11030

5771

4990

4910

9125

5385

4955

8010

5131

8727

10735

8170

9377

5833

1080

2835

9220

11550
11550

11550

5277

11991

8255

8950

8881

5247

8717

5404

9320

8241

3407

2715

3408

8244

8247

8211

8388

3948

8401

4855

9355

9360

5710

5180

11371

8500

8665

9955

8234

8603

5270

2876

8880

5217

404

8490
5875

9906

2040

1304

5685

4768

2626

8367

9095

5412

5187

8375

5034

3825

8190

5110

4995

5217

10375

9280

2895

9280

5070

9302

10950

8810

2925

8060

2960

7760

8896

2525

5090

1199

2543

9333

8001

9363

3141

8230

2069

9203

5422

11674

5400

9018

5350

8820

5110

2816

5730

2224

1875

8790

5737

9581

8344

8478

7805

9243

8419

5445

11233

4860

3075

8301

2961

5730

1095

5757

5130

8254

5777

5025

7821

10774

7803

8341

8030

11048

2443

11295

8070

10376

2930

4940
4960

8310

5267

8225

8282

5230

9525

9303

5885

4880

4060

9295

8455

10819

5193

8010

10903

10010

5745

11685

8485

9030

3060

11546

2850

8800

9520

9078

8260

4405

5750

8030

8870

5150

1067

4850

5171

8409 8586

5690

4870

9385

10664

9287

8331

9250

10802

8351

2430

9400

10728

1025

2189

10833

8371

8110

5055

2393

11240

8391

8644

10847

4955

10746

4980

8268

2455

4865

5158
5120

4850

5072

2965

5150

1020

2470

5226

8352

1957

1140

1028

1080

2055

2450

2320

3473

9191

4854

2796

8050

9517

8899

8040

1019

8469

8100

2935

1069

1115

8982

7990

1177
1145

1123

2856

8898

9160

5080

2621

8483

5124

2655

8867

9523

2450

8916

8965

1073

1027

8938

1093

9220

2410

3819

8962

2101

10922

5227

4596

2245

10875

5040
5060

8170

10963

8390

5890

4515

84158139 832183098171 8261 83758229

83908370

10931

8320

5237

8572

5170

4960

8415

2461

9123

5747

10858

5211

8211

5701

9112

5020

8549

2333

10791

8980

5151

5790

10024

50557816

5420

8611

7761

2289

11171

11040

9055

4823

5487

5130

1696

9280

2225

11202

11345

7824

11108

5201

5410

8509

2470

8170

10071

8142

2267

5025

8292

275

5853

9498

10763

9682

4388

4926

3759

8167

7920

5750

5850

5770

5200

2227

5790

5171

10368

9706

8573

5500

3161

11047

8021

4346

2345

5810

4260

2491

10895

11063

8331

8011

3077

8001

8030

2440

5736

2479

2311

9901

2445

5171

4070

8180

5080

2395

9240

4009

11395

10072

9219

11355

9404

10830 10886

3047

1683

2175

11230

4275

11075

11150

8475

11075

11365

11190

8627

2935

9754

8140

5121

5043

4071

9098

11109

3765

3914

3797

5810

11320

8110

11115

4091

10674

9757

10684

11110

8080

5230

5960
5933

11350

11227

8690

8050

8050

3095

5235

11350

11385

8509

2229

11066

11066

11375

11314

11420

11270

11140

11277

11320

11407

8989

2201

5815

3712

8470 8603

10825

4996

5920

3303

9445

7680

8274

5151

3337

5459

5085

4748

5111

5830

9189

10380

9436

3065

8930

5787

2750

9040

4732

8860

8330

8193

31509181

10079

8890

3476
3440

9032

5665

9497

5065

8670

7730

7872

8350

5831

9986

8815

812580958065 8215815581858045

4171

5165

4061

8370

7840

5231

3100

3070

11210

8265

9654

8390

7931

8000

2194

4855

5850

37203889

7856

4110

7832

9811

7982

11950

5261

5111

5321

5620

2315

9717

5091

5291

5693

3052

5870

2773

5775

3704

9550

8245

5724

4150

5260

2204

1446

9915

8567

8243

1985

2793

2340

2914

9615

4100

2899

7818

8850

5131

4635

2380

5071

8510

8845

4966

9275

4140

5710

9402

4131

8875

5440

2337

2684
2700

4030

9954

7962

8203

2632

2041

2075

8687

5811

7864

8021

8239

8809

4497

10353

2662

7741

2329

4190

9634

8555

5361

2415

8625

7898
5451

5290

8312 8350

5460

8548

2360

8100

9861

8815

8309

2965

8270

2110

8360

4277

4280

4280

87498405

5480

8775

7848

4260

7740

5431

5051

2706

4276

8529

7780

4220

7930

5771

8040

5791

5751

5680

7808

2120

5655

4141

5640

5730

7920

2902

2958

5597

8727

9229

9788

4181

2672

4235

4033

2867

9676

8771

3929

2874

2790

5675

1584

2846

2718

8790

2933

1525

4240

2823

2390

2722

2174

9125

2359

2735

4255

9621

4070

1615

9732

4285

9149

1849

9524

9799

18051827

8860

1757

1529

2257

8247

9829

1627

1709

1535

2301

1684

1743

1539

4215

1517

4120

1779
1727

1583

1513

8996

1681
1663

16971694

1756

1668

1636
1654

1680

9548

4111
4077

9766

1645

9155

5010

2818

9828

9350

1873

8780

4260

8770

1567

4255

4240

9771

2134

9602 9796

4275

9884

9737

3909

55355531

8539

9476

4944

3415

5819

9498

9885

9576

2811

8121

8110

8085

8080 8196

8173

8160

4180

4101

5093

8465

8290

9340

9927

8332

5701

2575

9730

9611

9485

8245

5418

5725

9141

9590

8498

9399

4118

9148

8556

3160

8511

11392

9437

3936

8120

8702

8619

2931

5197

8416

8546

9530

10977

8264

8164

3610

9605

8517

5734

9601

9929

3023

4990

9957

10042

2819 2958

11280

11612

3351

8271

3286

3025

12460

9902

4849

4348

9703

41328255

9662

9843

4305

9620

9799

4146

9726

9492

9605

9818

2923

4220

2955

3014

4964

8224

8286

11430

8294

4075

9915

3982

11658

4711

9985

4982

8804

5647

9768

4258

1589

2927

11443

1525

9819

8955

8961

97299650

5677

8282

10356

4575

2939

8879 8929

8838

8839 8969

89288890 89688808

5658

2998

4508

8382

8012

8160

1668

4327
4345

4941

10325

5659

2805

2877
27692978

5760

8344

3960

8455

11040

7851

5810

4404

5711

9406

10149

4758

9606

2984

11328

4863

5782

2928

9186

8278

8536

8910

4167

9740

8533

11909

11051

4385

3078

11933

5840

11152

5671

2911

8220

11880

11619

4446

5765

8148

4633

11140

9949

9477

8431

2739

4177

8015

4465

4092

9776

2907

8600

2932

11828

4460

4589

2971

8528

4629

5736

1550

1594
1578

1650

1620
1634

1571

4830

8320

1545

2936

2972

8011

2915

5712

5682

10950

9829

5747

12176

9971

8883

48848120

9997

4938

10278

2987

4265

2950

5769

2995

5683

2966

4967

4847

5688

8460

5650

4577

4651

8066

2943
2962

4819

2919

5805

4875

11923

5670

4905

2646

5729

2796

2942

4703

3326

2965

4330

2959

11715

2949

2951

4677

4731

2721

9831

2979

10316

2976

10289

8623

8991

4563

4605
4594

11035

4582

8080

4574
4566

5820

10985

4539

11610

4911

4550

11256

4558

11130

11194

9447

4677
4689

8001

11730

1326

2970

10115

3655

4103

3435

11075

8450

8555

8834 8862

11592

8831 8861

8605

10029

8510

1625

8080

2950

8801

4179

11543

1643

3268

10064

3308
3284

8570

2965

8695

4769

2770

8549

3287

10080

3735

3549

4535

8061

10097

4611

11025

9442

2975

3923

4207

8722

8674

9051

8554

3910

11928

9043

11753

4037

10085

4365

10342

3328

3849

11881

3109

3890

4127

8748

4891

4233

4488

8258

10225

11125

11862

10144

4602

2988

9057

1665

4151

11834

4931

4881

4995

11253

10263

8051

3405

9109

4515

3597

10961

2918

8772

11197

11830 11839
11809

3271

10206

9170

10231

3563

10125

3623

10095

10191
10159

2751

10178

9836

8725

4485

3351

3850

8718

3010

4835

4963

3533

3567

3607
3597

3551

3440

3509
3490
3464

3263
3296

8110

3030

5206

7934

3981

3081

8780

4009

3876

4418
4442

4370

3582

9429

4466

4394

4853

4971

8650

34153412

8687

8644

7817

8623

8108

8195

2915

3053

8775

4192

8715

2995

2940

2904

2759

4174

8048

4387

4415

8076

8785

4365

2986

4389

4634

9519

11220

4463
4439

2990

9161

3508

8520
2875
2895

9409

4500

8728

3240

3570

2809

2959

2909

7959

3309

4336

11761 11829
1185711714

12100

3127

4390

2991

3603

2769

3625

2955
2939
2921

2783
2797

2903

2817
2837

2891
2871

2971

2764

3105

2968
2932
2916
2898
2866

2778
2790
2832
2814

2935

4372
4354

2731

2773
2793

3664
3646

3686

8521

3624

3131 31243124
3151

3127

36503647

11550
11550

11550
11550

11550

11228

5250

5210
5190

5230

5170

9379

9383
9381

11434

7980
8020

2795

10654

8735

8312

10644

8311

2151

5429

7960

2377

9905

5439

5470

8374

5419

11200
11200
11200

11200 11200
11200
11200 11200

8109

4455

5449

9060

8200

2383

8802

3409

5460

8260

8640

8081

11860

8320 8989

9090

8292

5221

9038

8830

8855

5480

8920

8755

2389

8925

2410

8838

8237

7970

9401

5450

11920

8028

8840

2141

8835

8340

8579

11060

10867

8645

8784

7910

8895

9046

8875

4720

8650

2131

5409

5440

8240

2121

9714

8419

5430

8855

5420

8905

8780

2111

8249
8830

5040

5471

8785

8720

8182

8810
8696

8909
8949

5695

82958323

8841 88778909 89598935

8811

8260

8171

2932

8131

9095

8280

75507520 7580
7610

8895

8980

1570

11511

9700
9856

8628

8750

8592

83008241

9440

4580

4886

8251

8162

82338061

3890

3778

2197

8599

8281

8012

8618

3862

10380

86438659

8609

10823

8355

9620

9077

7831

4473

10059

8018

9427

8903

9417

9377

9407
9397

8866

11530

3736

4731

4575

8200

10824

3834

11223

4555

11079

2211

9357

10483

5784

3756

8583

9330

11977

4421

8766

4187

2748

11588

4351

10174

11053

3385

8032

11299

9593

9441

9066

8540

4168

7978

9079

4251

11912

2770

8024

3806

4199

4791

9984

9480

11291

9745

8680

42279958

8206

1796

4759

9936

2992

2660

5802

2820
2795

4068

4143

4937

4335

4155

10032

4190

8738

9918

8690

7955

9302

10037

2855

11570

3899

11653

10057

8896

8014

8718

3918

2753

10914

3947

11622

2805

3693

4545

3373

10902

9322

9880

10997

3829

11091

10168

8123

8919

5038

8032

11649

11150

8052

8033

3944

11769

616

8384

11628

11711

10011

3773

11693 11771

10069

11544 11796

11888

11647
11751

4005

11703

9337

10997

8716

10926

8114

10380

8290

3871

79517949

11787

8404

11797 11833
11671

11806

11609

8043

5068

10915

11815

11184

11120

10966

3074

9065

11732
10911

11326

10100

10938

11726

10978
10994

11126

11364

10220
10150

10138

11050
11106

10118

4565

11286

11727
11679

11784

11762

7990

5096

4083

11234
11256

3881

10030

10941

10073

10114

11212

11686
11704

11357

11686

10929

11051

4044

11284

3857

9867

11598

11680

9461

8464

11736

2964

11766

2986

12114

11259 11333

11320

4002
4044

4028

9359

9033

5058

9858

5064

4057

11306

4644

5188

11377

5067

3081

7945

4033

11520

3481

4076

11703

10212
10194

4805

5073

11018

5128

5238
5222

2952

3998

2944

8652

9885

8111

8567

3327

8242

9849

5168

11279

11681

9831

4212

5090

5076

9233

5072

4236

11015

4020

4156
4138

5052
5048

5082
5086

11356
11316

4102
4120

2978
2972 2930

5085
5288

5279
5257

5308

5041

5073
5079

5067

50575049 5063

5264

8656

9317

5150

8655

8742

3250

11656

11657 11820

8186

11060

9179

11307

8709

9224

8084

11326

11055

11541

8633

8428

11644

5337

11258

5042

11127

85708544 86688648
8620

8510

11240

8004

11227
11397

11199

7972

3330
3316

3331

8643

8648

8402

8098

82828308

11320

5035

8364 2989

11179

12020

12072

12108

9287

5038

8914

89098891

8938 37408894

8939

9090

9055

91109038

9089

9130

91159165

9060

9597

3276

8488

8657

9853

754

12038

11910

11816

9150

4610

11120

10390

10891

3012

4861
4873

4943

4815

4979
4987

4955

4827

3063

11646

1124711267

8298

8639
8685

3004

11888
11676

2994

5083

11792

5173

8515

5097

11794

8009

11992

11681

1175011772

12088

8190

5043

11676

9198

3511

3084

11108

709

10919

10940
11033

9199

9397

11217
11205

8130

3094

5079

3091

35103504

10865

5055

9133

8181

8603

9025

3360

736

3258
11008

3348

712

5087

3291

11090

12056

8580

565

4622

11306

9917

11334

3153

2915

510

682
743

765

10925

8511

5231

11079

721

8980

783

5265

623

3442

3281
3311

4676

3338

5203

9393

11220

5091

2929

528

9366

10240

3645

5383

4668

8199

9838

4654

109419260

11057

12122

5294

8056

12418

597

10917

11020

5061

547012136

8910

5291

648
618

602

12154
12172
12190

9369

9856

10975

31153112

10961

584

2945

10949

9902

3343

9901

8098

10929

9822

3479

9872

513

5403

5323

9755

3099

9888

9703

3217
3203

3308

3235

9905

12208

5310

9733

544512167

568546

9910

9077

11075
11074

11105

11225 1129511269

3253

3265

9837

5429

10376

12502

10902

10907

5366

9768

9051

5328
5388

3631

10906

9918

9240

9049

3390

12211

9771

1120011212 11292
11230 11272

11227

9785

12023

540812115

99049786 9918

11072

5346

3537

12226 12300

9202

9750

10920

8051

3673

1244612476

12288
12260

4698

12311

12187

9924

9823

8017

12195

11094

4690

12067

9913

12455

12153 12245

12371

10899

12181

12432

220

3459

11180

9797

12312

3585

3466

12383

12276

12404
12532

12324
12362

3380

8080 12203 12337

11082

3693

3520

12340

3524

9871

12386

8085

3590

3546

3394

8036

10390
10390

11178

3617 36043603

3417

3515

12425
12425

8027

2860

8038

12415

12445

3880

11002
11104

8111

11123

12435
12435

8034

8935
8945

8975

8925

8971 8981
89858931

8941

8673
8669

11750
11720

1182011850
11770

1179011810

862586218677

865786538665

11140

11830

11760
11840

86338687

3010
3030

8991

8951

8995

8953

10TH ST N

HUDSON BLVD

MA
NN

ING
 AV

E N

LA
KE

 EL
MO

 AV
E N

INW
OO

D A
VE

 N

STILLWATER BLVD N

34TH ST N

50TH ST N

KE
AT

S A
VE

 N

15TH ST N

IDE
AL

 AV
E N

20TH ST N

LAKE JANE TRL N

30TH ST N

53RD ST N

27TH ST N

JAM
AC

A A
VE

 N

55TH ST N

JANE RD N

47TH ST N

DEMONT R EVILLE TRL N

57TH ST N

59TH ST N

51ST ST S

31ST ST N

43RD ST N

LEG
ION

 AV
E N

39TH ST N

38TH ST N

42ND ST N

OLSONLAKE TRLN

KIM
BR

O A
VE

 N

33RD ST N

24TH ST N

26TH ST N

32ND ST N

JULEP AVE N

LIL
Y A

VE
 N

CIMARRON

IVY
 AV

E N

HILLTOP AVE N

21ST ST N

STILLWATER LN N

IRIS AVE N

MA
NN

ING
TR

L N

45TH ST N

9TH ST N

IVO
RY

 AV
E N

12TH ST N

JAS
MINE A V E N

JEWEL AVE N

56TH ST N

LEGION LN N

35TH ST N

KE
LVI

N A
VE

 N

37TH ST N

36TH ST N

JAMACA BLVD N

LINDEN AVE N

KLON DIKEAV E N

LINDEN

TRL N

JANE CT N

IM
PE

RIA
L A

VE
N

55TH ST

ISLE AVE N

22ND ST N

40TH ST N

TAPE STRY TRL

28TH ST N

KIR
KW

OO
D A

VE
 N

3RD STR EET PL N

HYTRA IL AV EN

LIL
AC

 LN
 N

T A PEST RY R
D

JEROME AVE N

KINDRE D WAY

14T H ST
N

HIGHLANDS TRL N

EAGLE POINT BLVD

JAN
E C

IR N

JONQUI L TRL N

JAS
PE

R A
VE

 N

LAY
TO

N A
VE

 N

JAMACA CT N

JULEP CT N

LEEWARD AVE N

JONQ UIL AVE N

LILAC PL N

IRISH CT N

HIGHLANDS CT N

JUL
EP 

WAY

LILAC WAY N

IVORY CT

INN
SD

ALE
 AV

E N

11TH ST N

TAPESTR Y GRV

10TH STREE TLNN

22ND CT N

INN
SD

AL
E A

VE
 N

LAY TONAVE N

STILLWATER BLVD N

ISL
E A

VE
 N

JAM
AC

A A
VE

 N

53RD ST N

KE
AT

S A
VE

 N
KE

AT
S A

VE
 N

LIL
Y A

VE
 N

M ANNIN GAVE N
HIGHLANDS TRL N

10TH ST N

JUL

EP AVE N

LA
KE

 EL
MO

 AV
E N

57TH ST N

50TH ST N

59TH ST N

39TH ST N

Lake Elmo

Lake Jane

Eagle Point Lake

Lake DeMontreville

Lake Olson

Sunfish Lake

Horseshoe Lake

Downs Lake

Goose Lake

Rose Lake

Clear Lake

Armstrong Lake

Sources: Washington County & Metro GIS
5-11-2015

5

Official Zoning Map

Data Disclaimer:
This map is not a boundary survey
and is not intended to be used as such.
The City of Lake Elmo assumes no
liability for the completeness of this map
or responsibility for any associated direct,
indirect, or consequential damages that 
may result from its use or misuse.

Shoreland District
Municipal Boundary

ZONING DISTRICTS
A
BP
C
CC
GB
LC
LC-PUD
LDR

OP
PF
R2-PUD
RE
RR
RS
RT

LDR-PUD
MDR
MDR-PUD

Exhibit B to Written Statements - Land Use Application -  IRET Properties



Exhibit C to Written Statment
Land Use Variance 

Application
IRET Properties



Exhibit D to Written Statements 
Land Use Application

IRET Properties









Exhibit E to Written Statment 
Land Use Variance 

Application
IRET Properties



From: Kyle Klatt
To: Steve M. Hirtz
Cc: Dawn Grant - IRET; mikepearson1965@yahoo.com; Clark Schroeder
Subject: RE: High Pointe Medical Campus - pylon sign
Date: Wednesday, September 02, 2015 4:08:26 PM
Attachments: SKMBT_C25315090214530.pdf

Eagle Point Development Standards - Reduced.pdf

Steve:

Attached is the City's formal response letter to the sign permit application for High Pointe Medical Campus.  I am
 also attaching the full set of development standards for the Eagle Point Business Park that are on file in our office
 for your consideration.

I was able to contact Nick Johnson to discuss his previous correspondence with you concerning this matter.  While
 he and I were in agreement on the potential interpretation and application of the illustrative drawing included in the
 Eagle Point Business Park Development Standards, neither of us caught the written standards specific to signs when
 this initial review was performed.  I apologize for the earlier direction you were given, but at this point, I need to
 take into account all pertinent information as part of our formal sign permit review.  The attached letter documents
 the specific reasons for the denial of the permit request.

Based on the City's decision regarding this matter, you have the following options in order to continue perusing
 alterative signage options for this site:

- Revise the plans to conform to the sign height standard of 25 feet.
- Appeal the interpretation of the Eagle Point Business Park Development Standards to the City's Board of
 Adjustment and Appeals (which is the City Council)
- Request a variance to allow a higher sign than allowed under the City's Zoning Ordinance; or
- Apply for an amendment to the Eagle Point Business Park PUD to allow a sign that is higher than allowed under
 the development standards or to change the maximum sign height throughout the business park.

If you wish to pursue any of these options or if you have any general questions about the City's review, please
 contact me.

Kyle Klatt
Community Development Director
City of Lake Elmo
(651) 747-3911

-----Original Message-----
From: Steve M. Hirtz [mailto:SteveH@nordquistsign.com]
Sent: Friday, August 21, 2015 9:07 AM
To: Kyle Klatt <KKlatt@lakeelmo.org>
Cc: 'Dawn Grant - IRET' <DGrant@iret.com>
Subject: RE: High Pointe Medical Campus - pylon sign

Hello Kyle -

I am checking in to see if there is need for additional information from us and if there is an updated on our submittal.

Thanks,

Steve

Exhibit F to Written Statements 
Land Use Variance Application 

IRET Properties

mailto:KKlatt@lakeelmo.org
mailto:SteveH@nordquistsign.com
mailto:DGrant@iret.com
mailto:mikepearson1965@yahoo.com
mailto:CSchroeder@lakeelmo.org
mailto:SteveH@nordquistsign.com
























































































































































































































































































































Exhibit G to Written Statements 
Land Use Application

IRET Properties



Exhibit H to Written 
Statements Land Use Variance 
Application IRET Properties



INFORMATION

The Title Insurance Commitment is a legal contract between you and the Company. It is issued to show the basis 
on which we will issue a Title Insurance Policy to you. The Policy will insure you against certain risks to the land title, 
subject to the limitations shown in the Policy.

The Company will give you a sample of the Policy form, if you ask.

The Policy contains an arbitration clause.  All arbitrable matters when the Amount of Insurance is $2,000,000 or less 
shall be arbitrated at the option of either the Company or you as the exclusive remedy of the parties.  You may review 
a copy of the arbitration rules at <http://www.alta.org/>.

The Commitment is based on the land title as of the Commitment Date. Any changes in the land title or the transaction 
may affect the Commitment and the Policy.

The Commitment is subject to its Requirements, Exceptions and Conditions.

THIS INFORMATION IS NOT PART OF THE TITLE INSURANCE COMMITMENT. YOU SHOULD READ THE 
COMMITMENT VERY CAREFULLY.

All notices required to be given the Company and any statement in writing required to be furnished the Company 
shall be addressed to it at P.O. Box 2029, Houston, Texas 77252.

Page 1

Verification of Ownership
Land Use Application

IRET Properties



TITLE INSURANCE COMMITMENT
Issued by

AGREEMENT TO ISSUE POLICY

We agree to issue policy to you according to the terms of the Commitment.  When we show the policy amount 
and your name as the proposed insured in Schedule A, this Commitment becomes effective as of the 
Commitment Date shown in Schedule A.

If the Requirements shown in this Commitment have not been met within six months after the Commitment 
Date, our obligation under this Commitment will end.  Also, our obligation under this Commitment will end 
when the Policy is issued and then our obligation to you will be under the Policy.

Our obligation under this Commitment is limited by the following:

The Provisions in Schedule A.

The Requirements in Schedule B-I.

The Exceptions in Schedule B-II.

The Conditions on Page 2.

This Commitment is not valid without SCHEDULE A and Sections I and II of SCHEDULE B.

This Commitment shall not be valid or binding until countersigned by a validating officer or authorized signatory.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Stewart Title Guaranty Company has caused its corporate name and seal to be 
hereunto affixed by its duly authorized officers on the date shown in Schedule A.

Countersigned:

Authorized Countersignature

Stewart Title of Minnesota, Inc.
Company

Bloomington, Minnesota
City, State

ALTA Plain Language Commitment (6/17/06)

245 ALTA Plain Language Commitment (6/17/06)



CONDITIONS

1. DEFINITIONS

(a) “Mortgage” means mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument. (b) “Public Records” means title records that
give constructive notice of matters affecting your title according to the state statutes where your land is located.

2. LATER DEFECTS

The Exceptions in Schedule B – Section II may be amended to show any defects, liens or encumbrances that appear for
the first time in the public records or are created or attach between the Commitment Date and the date on which all of the
Requirements (a) and (c) of Schedule B – Section I are met.  We shall have no liability to you because of this amendment.

3. EXISTING DEFECTS

If any defects, liens or encumbrances existing at Commitment date are not shown in Schedule B, we may amend
Schedule B to show them.  If we do amend Schedule B to show these defects, liens or encumbrances, we shall be liable
to you according to Paragraph 4 below unless you knew of this information and did not tell us about it in writing.

4. LIMITATION OF OUR LIABILITY

Our only obligation is to issue to you the Policy referred to in this Commitment, when you have met its Requirements.  If
we have any liability to you for any loss you incur because of an error in this Commitment, our liability will be limited to your
actual loss caused by your relying on this Commitment when you acted in good faith to:

Comply with the Requirements shown in Schedule B – Section I

or

Eliminate with our written consent any Exceptions shown in Schedule B – Section II.

We shall not be liable for more than the Policy Amount shown in Schedule A of this Commitment and our liability is subject
to the terms of the Policy form to be issued to you.

5. CLAIMS MUST BE BASED ON THIS COMMITMENT

Any claim, whether or not based on negligence, which you may have against us concerning the title to the land must be
based on this Commitment and is subject to its terms.

Page 2



ESTABLISHED 1893

INCORPORATED 1908

A NAME

RECOGNIZED NATIONALLY

AS BEING

SYNONYMOUS WITH

QUALITY

P.O. Box 2029
Houston, Texas 77252

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

AGREEMENT TO ISSUE POLICY    1

SCHEDULE A

1. Commitment date
2. Policies to be Issued, Amounts and

Proposed Insureds
3. Interest in the Land and Owner
4. Description of the Land

SCHEDULE B-I – REQUIREMENTS

SCHEDULE B-II – EXCEPTIONS

CONDITIONS    2



ALTA Commitment Schedule A

SCHEDULE A

STEWART TITLE
GUARANTY COMPANY

Commitment Page 5 of 9

Customer Reference #:  955743
Order Number:  153273        

1. Effective Date:  January 4, 2012 at 7:00 A.M.

2. Policy or Policies to be issued: Amount of Insurance
(a) ALTA Owner’s 2006

Proposed Insured:  NONE

(b) ALTA Loan 2006 $5,400,000.00
Proposed Insured:  TCF Bank, its successors and/or assigns

3. The estate or interest in the land described or referred to in this Commitment and covered herein is
fee simple and is at the effective date hereof vested in:

IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership, a limited partnership under the laws of North
Dakota

4. The land referred to in this Commitment is located in the County of Washington, State of Minnesota,
and described as follows:

SEE ATTACHED EXHIBIT A

http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/40c2578e-6f5d-42bb-adeb-fefb7b7d821de4a44dcc-2bfe-43b3-af30-423d80a6bda1.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/40c2578e-6f5d-42bb-adeb-fefb7b7d821de4a44dcc-2bfe-43b3-af30-423d80a6bda1.pdf


ALTA Commitment Schedule A

SCHEDULE A

STEWART TITLE
GUARANTY COMPANY

Commitment Page 6 of 9

EXHIBIT A

All that part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 29 North, Range 
21 West, Washington County, Minnesota, described as follows:

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 
seconds West, along the East line of said Southeast Quarter, a distance of 435.61 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING; continue thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West, along said East line, a 
distance of 483.26 feet, thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West a distance of 683.24 feet; 
thence South 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East a distance of 423.69 feet; thence Westerly 123.88 
feet along the arc of a non-tangential curve concave to the South whose radius is 230.00 feet and whose 
chord bears South 83 degrees 51 minutes 07 seconds West; thence South 68 degrees 24 minutes 49 
seconds West a distance of 102.81 feet to a point on the Northerly right of way line of Hudson Blvd.; 
thence Southeasterly, along said Northerly right of way a distance of 421.73 feet along the arc of a non-
tangential curve concave to the Northeast whose radius is 768.51 feet and whose chord bears South 52 
degrees 53 minutes 56 seconds East; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a distance of 
176.36 feet; thence North 89 degrees 35 minutes 53 seconds East a distance of 175.00 feet; thence South 
00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 223.25 feet to a point on the Northerly right of way 
line of Hudson Blvd.; thence Southeasterly, along said Northerly right of way line a distance of 53.13 
feet along the arc of a non-tangential curve concave to the North, whose radius is 768.51 feet and whose 
chord bears South 84 degrees 06 minutes 58 seconds East; continue thence South 86 degrees 05 minutes 
47 seconds East a distance of 141.01 feet; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds West a 
distance of 301.88 feet; thence North 89 degrees 35 minutes 53 seconds East a distance of 200.00 feet to 
the POINT OF BEGINNING and there terminating.

Being Torrens property.  Certificate No.: 60591

http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/68c14cf0-2e72-4e7c-9029-667b96b8b098024311b6-6c8f-45d7-a381-34770e1d7271.pdf


ALTA Commitment Schedule B Section I

SCHEDULE B – Section I

Requirements

STEWART TITLE
GUARANTY COMPANY

Commitment Page 7 of 9

Order Number:  153273

THIS COMMITMENT IS NOT AN ABSTRACT, EXAMINATION, REPORT, OR REPRESENTATION OF 
FACT OR TITLE AND DOES NOT CREATE AND SHALL NOT BE THE BASIS OF ANY CLAIM FOR 
NEGLIGENCE, NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION OR OTHER TORT CLAIM OR ACTION.  THE 
SOLE LIABILITY OF COMPANY AND ITS TITLE INSURANCE AGENT SHALL ARISE UNDER AND 
BE GOVERNED BY PARAGRAPH THREE (3) OF THE CONDITIONS.

The following are the requirements to be complied with:

1. A properly executed and recordable mortgage from IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited
Partnership, a limited partnership under the laws of North Dakota, to TCF Bank.

2. Affidavit Regarding Borrower(s) executed by IRET Properties, a North Dakota Limited Partnership,
a limited partnership under the laws of North Dakota.

3. The company requires the following to be satisfied, subordinated or partially released:
Mortgage, Security Agreement and Fixture Financing Statement in the original principal amount of
$8,100,000.00, dated 11-8-1998, filed 12-17-1998, as Document No. 1075768, between East Metro
Medical Building, LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company, mortgagor, and The Variable
Annuity Life Insurance Company, a Texas corporation, mortgagee.
Amended by Consent, Assumption, Loan Modification, Amendment to Mortgage, Security
Agreement and Fixture Financing Statement and Indemnification Agreement dated 7-30-2004, filed
10-5-2004, as Document No. 1150298; mortgage assumed by IRET Properties, a North Dakota
Limited Partnership, a limited partnership under the laws of North Dakota.

4. The company requires the following to be satisfied, subordinated or partially released:
Absolute Assignment of Leases and Rents dated 12-8-1998, filed 12-17-1998, as Document No.
1075769, between East Metro Medical Building, LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company,
assignor, and The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company, a Texas corporation, assignee.
Amended by Consent, Assumption, Loan Modification, Amendment to Mortgage, Security
Agreement and Fixture Financing Statement and Indemnification Agreement dated 7-30-2004, filed
10-5-2004, as Document No. 1150298; assignment assumed by IRET Properties, a North Dakota
Limited Partnership, a limited partnership under the laws of North Dakota.

http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/e92d7079-c147-4817-917f-7f47416c635440144a74-79f2-442c-aaf5-b083548afc31.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/40356802-77fd-4705-afc4-5f62a9f79e132b6617fb-9bbf-4e58-89f5-c85536bb1280.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/0147a52d-fc3a-43d6-a3f2-19e0243aba171f19e7be-c17b-4a60-8c83-bcae178eacff.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/0147a52d-fc3a-43d6-a3f2-19e0243aba171f19e7be-c17b-4a60-8c83-bcae178eacff.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/b8395846-f5c9-4f29-a31d-4e7dd39d57a93a40e1c4-9778-4b06-ae80-52854a2eaabe.pdf


ALTA Commitment Schedule B Section II

SCHEDULE B – Section II

Exceptions

STEWART TITLE
GUARANTY COMPANY

Commitment Page 8 of 9

Order Number:  153273

The policy or policies to be issued will contain exceptions to the following unless the same are disposed 
of to the satisfaction of the Company:

1. Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters, if any, created, first appearing in the
public records or attaching subsequent to the effective date hereof, but prior to the date the proposed
insured acquires for value of record the estate or interest or mortgage thereon covered by this
commitment.

2. Rights or claims of parties in possession, not shown by the public records.

3. Easements, or claims of easements, not shown by the public records.

4. Discrepancies, conflicts in boundary lines, shortage in area, encroachments, and any facts which a
correct survey and inspection of the premises would disclose and which are not shown by the public
records.

5. Any lien, or right to a lien, for services, labor or material heretofore or hereafter furnished, imposed
by law and not shown by the public records.

6. Rights or claims of tenants, as tenants only, in possession under unrecorded leases.

7. Taxes for the year 2011 in the amount of $346,110.00.  They are paid in full.  Base Tax amount
$343,323.63.
PIN: 33.029.21.44.0007.  Non-Homestead
There are no delinquent taxes of record.

8. Special and pending assessments, if any.
Note:  An assessment search has been requested and the results of that search will follow by revision.

9. Minnesota Department of Transportation Right of Way Plat No. 82-31, filed 9-29-1981, as Document
No. 58129.

10. Terms and conditions of Partial Final Certificate dated 10-9-1987, filed 11-12-1987, as Document
No. 85987.

11. Terms and conditions of Declaration of Protective Covenants dated 12-1-1997, filed 12-19-1997, as
Document No. 1065503.

12. Terms and conditions of Easement Agreement dated 12-10-1997, filed 12-31-1997, as Document No.
1065505.

http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/43ee9cc1-022d-4cab-8f4f-a4033d93ca69d24f948b-6147-4600-b32b-d02be0e39db2.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/43ee9cc1-022d-4cab-8f4f-a4033d93ca69d24f948b-6147-4600-b32b-d02be0e39db2.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/1f8bc7dc-e393-4134-8ba6-72d9c69eb35342a247e0-d61b-430e-b4d2-9886a682dfa7.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/1f8bc7dc-e393-4134-8ba6-72d9c69eb35342a247e0-d61b-430e-b4d2-9886a682dfa7.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/11da3fb6-243f-4479-bf05-dcacec268e8d78b7a229-ac68-43b2-bcf7-b7389a7a8909.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/2345a46c-bfda-4d0e-94d3-6b53c9181574d816bd81-c77a-41ef-9ba9-d1e10912f01d.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/2345a46c-bfda-4d0e-94d3-6b53c9181574d816bd81-c77a-41ef-9ba9-d1e10912f01d.pdf


ALTA Commitment Schedule B Section II

SCHEDULE B – Section II

Exceptions

STEWART TITLE
GUARANTY COMPANY

Commitment Page 9 of 9

13. Terms and conditions of East Metro Healthcare Center Cooperation Agreement dated 12-2-1997,
filed 12-31-1997, as Document No. 1065506.

14. Terms and conditions of Memorandum of Cooperation Agreement dated 12-10-1997, filed 12-31-
1997, as Document No. 1065507.

15. Terms and conditions of Grant of Permanent Easement dated 12-10-1997, filed 12-31-1997, as
Document No. 1065509.

16. Terms and conditions of Easement and Agreement dated 8-30-2004, filed 10-6-2004, as Document
No. 1150352.

http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/f3d1094a-bc96-473a-b078-2165cc1cfd60dabf3a84-ddf5-47b4-a7d8-1cc4576cb152.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/58e58a7d-871f-4d0c-b22f-f789b562e92699f3d966-02f6-4e26-ae61-6a6b73062e7b.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/e224a11f-aa32-444b-930d-d1c785c553cce7b6d103-b560-4939-84bb-be2cfda53846.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/eaa9bf87-6691-4f9a-bb59-d25b4602c0d3f59dcfa6-4323-46b2-aa93-448d43548cf9.pdf
http://commitmentconnect.stewartworkplace.com/lcs/20120116/eaa9bf87-6691-4f9a-bb59-d25b4602c0d3f59dcfa6-4323-46b2-aa93-448d43548cf9.pdf








voi0126
Typewritten Text
2720-10876-High Pointe Health Campus-Version 1s



Lake Elmo City Hall 
651-747-3900 

3800 Laverne Avenue North 
Lake Elmo, MN 55042 

 

 
Development Standards for Eagle Point Business Park 
  

 
300.12 subd. (1)(B) and  300.12(2).  No Business Park structure shall exceed 60’ in height.  Parapet walls 
shall not exceed more than 4’ above the height permitted of the building. 
 
300.13 subd (6)(A)(3)  Parking spaces shall be 9’ X 18’ at the developments north of Hudson Blvd and 10’ 
X 20’ South of Hudson Blvd, with the exception of the hotel and restaurant which needs to be 9’ X 18’ spacing. 
Parking spaces for the handicapped shall be minimum of 12’ X 20’.  20% of the spaces in an office 
development can be compact car size 8’ X 16”.  The size of parking space may be altered upon approval of 
Zoning Administrator.   
 
300.13 subd. (6)(B)(6)(D)  The primary landscaping materials shall be shade trees with shrubs, hedges, etc., 
used only to complement trees, not as the sole means of landscaping.  Landscaping and irrigation will be 
done on a project by project basis.  If landscaping within the NSP easement is disturbed, it needs to be 
replaced by NSP, or the property owner.  Berming and landscaping must be approved within one year of City 
Council approval.   
 
Permitted Uses: Banks, medical clinics, offices, schools (business, professional and private trade), office 
showrooms. 
 
Conditional Uses: Business services, conference centers, health clubs, hotels and motels, day care centers, 
limited retail, medical, dental and research labs, recording studios, restaurants and cafeterias, theaters, 
teleconferencing transmission facilities, veterinary clinics, and hotel.   
 
Minimum Lot Area: 2.0 acres.  Lots less than 2.0 acres might be approved on a project by project basis 
through a conditional use permit.  
 
Minimum Lot Frontage: 200’ with the exception of 50’ pm a cul-de-sac. 
 
Lot Width/Depth Ratio: 1/3.5 
 
Minimum Building Setbacks: 50’ for the front and street frontage, and 10’ for side and rear frontage.  When 
abutting residential uses, the current ordinance requirement will apply. 
 
Minimum Parking Setbacks: Front: 20’, Side: 10’, Side(street): 20’, Rear: 10’ 
 
Minimum Building Foundation Size: 10,000 s.f. 
 



Parking Ratio: One space for each 250 s.f. of office building area or one space per two employees, 
whichever is greater.  One space per 2,000 s.f of storage, warehouse and 1 space per 1,000 s.f. of showroom. 
 
Pathways: 8’ wide pathways as part of the City’s trail system and the City will maintain. 
 
Storm Water Control: Storm water management requirements should be averaged over the PUD area as a 
whole.  The tributary setback will be 30’ from the tributary setback, and the parking setback will be 10’ from 
the tributary setback. 
 
Lighting Height: 30’ maximum 
 
Sign Height: Businesses can have signage on the building and a monument sign at the property’s entrance, 
and that a pylon sign must be approved on a case by case basis by the City.   
 
Pond Maintenance: Recommend the creation of a District to take care of pond maintenance.   
 
 
 
 

City of Lake Elmo  Certificate of Grading Review Sheet 







PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5b – PUBLIC HEARING 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
DATE: 1/11/15 
AGENDA ITEM: 5b – PUBLIC HEARING 
CASE # 2015-40 

 
 
ITEM: Sign Variance – IRET Properties, 8650 Hudson Blvd 
   
SUBMITTED BY: Stephen Wensman, City Planner 
 
REVIEWED BY: Joan Ziertman 
        
 
 
SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED:    

The Planning Commission is being asked to hold a public hearing to consider a request from IRET 
properties for a variance to allow a 35-foot high, 16-foot wide pylon sign.  The maximum pylon sign 
height for the subject property according to the Eagle Point Business Park Exterior Sign Design 
Agreement is 30-foot high and 12-foot wide.  Staff is recommending that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval of the variance request based on the findings listed in the Staff Report with the 
following motion: 

“Move to recommend approval of the 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance request at 8650 
Hudson Blvd. to allow for a 35-foot high, 16-foot wide pylon sign at the High Pointe Medical 

Campus based on the findings identified in the Staff Report.”  

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Applicant:  IRET Properties, 10050 Crosstown Circle, Suite 105, Eden Prairie, MN 55344 

Property Owners: IRET Properties, 1400 31st Ave SW, Suite 60, Minot ND 58702 

Location: 8650 Hudson Blvd, Lake Elmo 

PID Number:  33.029.21.44.0007 

Request: Variance – 5’ height and 4’ width variance from the pylon sign regulations of the 
Eagle Point Business Park Exterior Sign Design Agreement 

Existing Land Use: Medical Facilities 

Existing Zoning: BP – Business Park 

Surrounding Land Use: Medical Offices, Auto Body Repair, Offices 

Surrounding Zoning: BP – Business Park 

Comprehensive Plan: Business Park 

Proposed Zoning: No Change 

History: The subject property was platted as part of the Eagle Point Business Park 
Planned Unit Development. 



2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM __ – PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Deadline for Action: Application Complete – 12/1/15 
 60 Day Deadline – 1/30/16 
 Extension Letter Mailed – No 
 120 Day Deadline – 3/30/16 
 
Applicable Regulations: Eagle Park Business Park PUD Agreement 

154.109 – Variances (Administration and Enforcement) 
  
 

REQUEST DETAILS 

The City of Lake Elmo has received a request from IRET Properties for a variance to allow a pylon 
sign that exceeds the maximum height and width allowed under the Eagle Park Business Park PUD 
Agreement.  Under the Agreement, the maximum height and width for a pylon sign in this location 
would be 30-foot high and 12 foot wide feet.  The applicant is requesting a 5-foot height and 4-foot 
width variance from the PUD Agreement to allow a 35-foot high and 16-foot wide pylon.  

The applicant has provided a written statement to the City indicating the reason for the variance 
request. The written statement includes a narrative addressing how the proposed variance meets the 
four required findings to grant a variance under the City’s Zoning Code and State Statute. 

 

BACKGROUND 

The subject property is located in the southeastern corner of the Eagle Point Business Park, east of   
Inwood Avenue (CSAH 13) and Eagle Point Boulevard. The attached Exhibit B highlights the 
location of the parcel and its proposed pylon sign location. The parcel was platted as part of the Eagle 
Point Business Park and is 10.46 acres in size. The subject property and surrounding properties are 
zoned BP – Business Park. In terms of land use, the surrounding properties are mostly comprised of 
offices and other commercial uses with the exception of a collision shop.  

In terms of the physical characteristics of the property, the site is irregularly shaped with frontage on 
Hudson Boulevard, but with two other businesses, the Park Dental and Crossroads Collision carved 
into their Hudson Boulevard frontage. The High Point Health building is a 3-story brick building that 
sits up high toward the rear of the lot with the parking to its east side and entrance at the southeast 
corner of the building. The entrance drive curves behind the Crossroads Collision to Hudson 
Boulevard. The proposed pylon locations is on a vacant/undeveloped portion of the frontage between 
the Crossroads Collision and Park Dental. The location is the best location for providing visibility 
from Interstate 94, as it is the portion of the site where Hudson Boulevard runs parallel to the 
Interstate. Other signs for the High Point Medical Facility include a large wall sign that faces south 
and a small monument sign where the entrance drive meets Hudson Boulevard.  The building is a 
multi-tenant building and site lacks signs depicting building tenants.  

 

PLANNING AND ZONING ISSUES 

In reviewing the applicable codes and planning considerations that apply to the subject property, 
Staff would like the Planning Commission to consider the following as it reviews this request: 

 The Eagle Point Business PUD Agreement. According to the sign design regulations in the 
agreement, the text references a 25-foot height, whereas the text below the graphic depiction 



3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM __ – PUBLIC HEARING 
 

of the pylon sign states, “approximately 30’ high x 12’ wide.  Furthermore, the staff prepared 
summary of the Eagle Point Development Standards states: 

“Sign Height: Businesses can have signage on the building and a monument sign at the 
property’s entrance, and that a pylon sign must be approved on a case by case basis by 
the City.” 

 The only other pylon sign in the “locality” is a non-conforming pylon sign for Crossroads 
Collision.  Further down the road to the east is one other pylon signs for Lamperts Lumber 
which is a much larger non-conforming sign. 

 Site Topography/Visibility. As noted in the application, the building was one of the first to 
be constructed in the Eagle Point Business Park, and as other buildings have been 
constructed, some along the frontage, it has become increasingly difficult to find the 
businesses in the facility.  Visibility is poor from Hudson Road and even more so from 
Interstate 94.  

 Regulatory Ambiguity. As noted earlier, the Eagle Park Business Park PUD Agreement is 
somewhat ambiguous. The written text associated with the signs references a 25-foot height, 
whereas the graphic uses the term, “approximately 30-foot”. To further complicate the 
matter, a staff’s summary of the agreement states, “case by case” for pylon signs.  This 
ambiguity has caused internal interpretation issues. When first presented with this proposal, 
Nick Johnson, the City Planner, stated that in an email to the applicant that the 35-foot pylon 
sign height, “will work”.  Later, when Nick left the city, Kyle Klatt, the Development 
Director, denied the application.  Based on the denial, present staff requested that applicant 
apply for a variance. 

 Regulatory Delays. This process started on January 14, 2015 with an initial discussion with 
Nick Johnson the former City Planner.  A formal sign permit application was made on July 
23, 2015 which was denied by the Development Director on September 2, 2015.  On 
November 6, 2015, the applicant discussed the process with the new City Planner and a 
variance application was submitted on December 1, 2015. 

 

REVIEW AND ANALYSIS 

An applicant must establish and demonstrate compliance with the variance criteria set forth in Lake 
Elmo City Code Section 154.017 before an exception or modification to city code requirements can 
be granted.  These criteria are listed below, along with comments from Staff regarding applicability 
of these criteria to the applicant’s request. 

1) Practical Difficulties.  A variance to the provision of this chapter may be granted by the Board 
of Adjustment upon the application by the owner of the affected property where the strict 
enforcement of this chapter would cause practical difficulties because of circumstances unique to 
the individual property under consideration and then only when it is demonstrated that such 
actions will be in keeping with the spirit and intent of this chapter.  Definition of practical 
difficulties - “Practical difficulties” as used in connection with the granting of a variance, means 
that the property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an 
official control. 

Under this standard, the City would need to find that the placement of the proposed accessory 
structure in the proposed location is a reasonable use of the property.  



4 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM __ – PUBLIC HEARING 
 

FINDINGS: Increasing the allowed height from 30-foot to 35-foot and the width from 12-foot to 16-
foot for a pylon sign represents a reasonable use of the property. The property is zoned Business 
Park and is surrounded by other commercial uses. A larger nonconforming pylon sign exists 
adjacent to the site. Visibility to the site is difficult and identification of the multiple tenants is also 
reasonable. The variance is in keeping with the intent of the City’s sign ordinance: to foster high 
quality commercial and industrial development and to enhance economic development of existing 
businesses and industries by promoting reasonable, orderly, attractive and effective signs that meet 
the need for business identification, advertising and communication. Staff determines that this 
criterion is met.  

2) Unique Circumstances.  The plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique to the 
property not created by the landowner. 

In order to demonstrate compliance with this standard, the Planning Commission would need to 
identify those aspects of the applicant’s property that would not pertain to other properties within the 
same zoning classification. 

FINDINGS:  The site, lot layout, and the poor visibility from Hudson Boulevard and Interstate 94 
are unique and not circumstances created by the landowner. The Crossroads Collision and Park 
Dental buildings sit in front of the High Point Health facility limiting visibility. The facility sits to the 
rear of the site, the flat buildable area, leaving little physical presence on the Hudson Boulevard 
frontage. The restrictive sign design guidelines were created by the developer and approved by the 
City of Lake Elmo, not the current land owner/applicant. Staff determines that this criterion is met.   

 

3) Character of locality.  The proposed variance will not alter the essential character of the locality 
in which the property in question is located.    

Propose findings for this criterion are as follows: 

FINDINGS.  The location of the property and surrounding properties are within the Business Park, 
or are Commercial zoning. There exists one other pylon sign within the locality, and others beyond 
that are larger and are noncompliant with the City’s sign ordinance. The Eagle Point Business Park 
Agreement does allow a pylon sign. Staff determines that this criterion is met. 
 
4) Adjacent Properties and Traffic.  The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of 

light and air to property adjacent to the property in question or substantially increase the 
congestion of the public streets or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood.   

Propose findings for this criterion are as follows: 

FINDINGS.  The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to any 
properties adjacent to the proposed pylon sign site. The proposed pylon sign is located on an 
undeveloped portion of the applicant’s lot. The presence of the sign will not present additional 
congestion on public streets, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood. Staff determines that this criterion is met.  

Please note that the applicant has also provided a set of findings as part of the attached narrative and 
supporting documentation included with the application. 

Considering the potential findings of fact as suggested in the preceding section, Staff is 
recommending that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the variance request based on 
the findings noted in items 1-4 above. 



5 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM __ – PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 

RECCOMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the variance request 
submitted by IRET Properties given that the request meets the four criteria for a variance.   

The suggested motion for taking action on the Staff recommendation is as follows: 

“Move to recommend approval of the 5 foot height and 4 foot width variance request at 8650 
Hudson Blvd. to allow for a 35-foot high, 16-foot wide pylon sign at the High Pointe Medical 

Campus based on the findings identified in the Staff Report.”  

 

ATTACHMENTS:    

1. Written Statement  
2. Exhibits C–H to Written Statement 
3. Site Survey  
4. Adjacent Pylon photos 
5. Letters of Support 
6. Eagle Point Development Standards 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction ....................................................... Community Development Director 

- Report by Staff ..................................................................................... City Planner 

- Questions from the Commission ............................ Chair & Commission Members 

- Open the Public Hearing .................................................................................. Chair 

- Close the Public Hearing .................................................................................. Chair 

- Discussion by the Commission .............................. Chair & Commission Members 

- Action by the Commission ..................................... Chair & Commission Members 





MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE:  1/19/2016 
REGULAR    #17 

MOTION  

AGENDA ITEM: PF-Public or Semi-Public Zoning District Text Amendment  

SUBMITTED BY: Stephen Wensman, Planning Director 

THROUGH: Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 

REVIEWED BY: Jack Griffin 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Report/Presentation .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................................ Mayor Facilitates 
- Public Input, if Appropriate ................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
- Call for Motion .............................................................................. Mayor & City Council 
- Discussion ..................................................................................... Mayor & City Council 
- Action on Motion .................................................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

The City of Lake Elmo is requesting a zoning text amendment exempting essential services from 
certain dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-Public Zoning District. 
Staff and the Planning Commission recommends the City Council approve the zoning text 
amendment pertaining to essential services in the PF – Public or Semi-Public District with the 
following motion:   

“Move to approve Ordinance 08-__exempting essential services from certain dimensional and buffer 
requirements of the PF – Public or Semi-Public Zoning District”. 

BACKGROUND AND STAFF REPORT:  

The City of Lake Elmo negotiated the sale of property for the 75 foot x 90 foot, .16 acre, Inwood 
Booster Station to be located adjacent to CSAH 13 (Inwood Avenue). A 15 foot setback from the 
current roadway easement is being preserved for future County right-of-way as required in the 
County’s Comprehensive Plan, leaving a 75 foot x 75 foot parcel upon which to site the booster 
station.  Public facilities, such as the Booster Station, should be zoned PF–Public or Semi-Public 
as guided in the Comprehensive Plan. The newly created .16 acre lot does not meet the dimensional 
requirements of the PF Zoning District. 

On January 11, 2016, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider exempting 
essential services from certain dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF–Public or Semi 
Public Zoning District. At the public hearing, two residents spoke: Mr. Vejtruba, 8457 26th St. N, 



and Mr. Eberhard, the former land owner that negotiated with the city of the sale of the .16 acre 
parcel. Both residents asked questions of the planning commission, but neither opposed the 
ordinance amendment. The Planning Commission discussion was related to the need for the text 
amendment, and the need to maintain landscaping and screening with the exemption, architectural 
standards, and noise. The Planning Commission recommended approval of the zoning text 
amendment adding text related to setbacks, screening and noise. 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

The Inwood Booster Station is part of a 3.5 million dollar public project. The City has invested 18 
months of staff time, $45,000 in site acquisition, plus engineering and design of the facility. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff and the Planning Commission recommends the City Council approve the zoning text 
amendment pertaining to essential services in the PF – Public or Semi-Public District with the 
following motion:   

“Move to approve Ordinance 08-__exempting essential services from certain dimensional and buffer 
requirements of the PF – Public or Semi-Public Zoning District”. 

ATTACHMENT(S):  

 Planning Commission 1/11/2016 Planning Report

 Draft Ordinance Amendment 08-__



 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
DATE: 01/11/16 
AGENDA ITEM:  5c/d – PUBLIC HEARING 
CASE #2015-45 

 
 
 

City of Lake Elmo Planning Department 
PF Zoning District Text Amendment – Rezoning to PF Zoning District 

 
To: Planning Commission 

From: Stephen Wensman, City Planner 

Meeting Date: January 11, 2016 

Applicant: City of Lake Elmo   

Legal Address: 
 
 
 

 

All that part of the North 75.00 feet of the East 150.00 feet of the North ½ of the 
SW ¼ of Section 21, Township 29 North, Range 21 West, Washington County, 
Minnesota, which lies westerly of the west line of Parcel 3 of the 
WASHINGTON COUNTY HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY PLAT NO. 98 – 
C.S.A.H. 13, according to the recorded plat thereof. 

PID# 21.029.21.31.0002 

Owner: City of Lake Elmo 

Comprehensive 
Plan: 

Public or Semi Public 

 
 

Summary and Request: 

Application 
Summary: 

 

 

Recommendation: 

The City of Lake Elmo is requesting a zoning text amendment to exempt essential 
services from the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-
Public Zoning District.  In addition, the city is requesting the rezoning of the Inwood 
Booster Station property from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District.   

Staff is recommending that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the 
zoning text amendment to exempt essential services from the dimensional and 
buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-Public Zoning District, and 
recommend approval of the rezoning of the Inwood Booster Station property, 
PID# 21.029.21.31.0002, from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District with the following motions:  

1) Move to approve a zoning text amendment exempting essential services 
from the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or 
Semi-Public Zoning District. 
 



2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 
 

2) Move to approve a rezoning of Inwood Booster Station property from RR- 
Rural Residential to PF- Public and Semi-Public Zoning District.

  

Attachments: 
 
 
 
 

Location Map 

Draft Ordinance Amendment 97-__ 

Property Exhibit. 

 
Zoning Text Amendment and Rezoning 

Review: The City of Lake Elmo negotiated the sale of property for the 75 foot x 90 foot, .16 
acre, Inwood Booster Station to be located adjacent to CSAH 13 (Inwood Avenue). A 
15 foot setback from the current roadway easement is being preserved for future 
County right-of-way as required in the County’s Comprehensive Plan, leaving a 75 
foot x 75 foot parcel upon which to site the booster station.  The Inwood Booster 
Station is an essential part of the city’s water distribution system. By definition, public 
utilities are considered  an essential service in the City Code of Ordinances:  

§  154.012, Subd. B, 11 

ESSENTIAL SERVICES.  Underground or overhead gas, electric, steam, or water 
distribution systems; collection, communication, supply, or disposal system, 
including poles, wires, mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarm 
boxes, police call boxes, traffic signals, hydrants, or other similar equipment and 
accessories, but not including buildings or transmission services. 

 
Essential services are a permitted use in all zoning districts, however, the City’s 
comprehensive plan guides publicly owned facilities, such as essential services to the 
PF Zoning District. 
 

§ 154.203 ESSENTIAL SERVICES.  
Essential services as defined by this Ordinance are permitted in any district, provided 
that a site plan for any new or expanded service facility is filed with the Planning 
Department. The City Council may require site plan review of large facilities, upon the 
recommendation of the Planning Director. 
 

The original parcel and the newly created parcel for the Inwood Booster Station are 
presently zoned RR-Rural Residential. The new Inwood Booster Station parcel should 
be zoned PF – Public or Semi-Public as guided in the city’s comprehensive plan.  
 
Upon review of the proposed rezoning to PF – Public or Semi-Public, it became 
apparent that the new parcel was non-conforming with the PF Zoning District 
dimensional, and buffer requirements.  The requirements are important for most land 
uses, however, essential services are generally incidental and subordinate to the 
surrounding land uses, whatever they may be.  In addition, it serves the welfare of the 
public to have the least amount of property in public ownership while serving the 



3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 
 

essential needs of the public.  For this reason, the City is requesting the amendment to 
exempt essential services from the district’s dimensional, and buffer requirements of 
the PF Zoning District. 
 
The PF District requirements are as follows: 
 

Minimum Lot Width: 100 feet 
Minimum Lot Depth: 150 feet 
Setbacks from property lines: 50 feet 
Buffer Requirement: 50 feet 
 

As part of the purchase agreement, the city has the right to provide landscaping within 
the first 15 feet to the south and west of the parcel, upon permission for right of entry 
by the seller. The City is planning to provide a landscape screening of the Inwood 
Booster Station parcel. 

 
 
Recommendation: 

 
 
 
 
 

Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the zoning text 
amendment and zoning map amendment with the following motions: 

3) Move to approve a zoning text amendment exempting essential services from 
the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District. 
 

4) Move to approve a rezoning of Inwood Booster Station property from RR- 
Rural Residential to PF- Public and Semi-Public Zoning District. 

  
 



CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
COUNTY OF WASHINGTON 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

ORDINANCE NO. 97-___ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 154.600 OF THE LAKE ELMO CITY CODE 
TO EXEMPT ESSENTIAL SERVICES FROM THE PF- PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC 

DIMENSIONAL AND BUFFER REQUIREMENTS  

The City Council of the City of Lake Elmo hereby ordains that Section 154.600 is hereby 
amended to read as follows:  

ARTICLE I. PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC DISTRICTS 

§ 154.600 PF – PUBLIC AND QUASI-PUBLIC OPEN SPACE.

A. Purpose and Intent.  The purpose and intent of the PF Zoning District is to allow uses and 
structures that are incidental and subordinate to the overall land uses permitted in the city.  
While allowing certain uses within the city, general performance standards have been 
established.  This is intended to assure maintenance and preservation of the established 
rural character of the city by preserving agricultural land, woodlands, corridors, and other 
significant natural features, and provide buffering between PF and residential or other 
uses. 

B. Uses Allowed by Conditional Use Permit.  In addition to the specific standards and 
criteria which may be cited below for respective uses, each application shall be evaluated 
based on the standards and criteria set forth in §§ 154.015 through 154.021 of this code.  
Uses allowed herein that are in existence within the city at the effective date of this 
chapter may continue the use as a permitted use.  The following uses are conditionally 
permitted in the PF Zoning District: 

1. Cemeteries, provided that:

a. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive
Plan as major collector or arterial; and

b. No mausoleum, crematorium, or other structure is permitted, except a 1-story
tool or storage shed of 160 square feet floor maximum floor area.

2. Places of worship, provided that:

a. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive
Plan as major collector or arterial;

b. No use may exceed 235 gallons wastewater generation per day per net acre of
land;



 

c. No on-site sewer system shall be designed to handle more than 5,000 gallons 
per day; 

d. Exterior athletic fields shall not include spectator seating, public address 
facilities or lighting; and 

e. No freestanding broadcast or telecast antennas are permitted.  No broadcast 
dish or antenna shall extend more than 6 feet above or beyond the principal 
structure. 

3. Facilities for local, county and state government, provided that: 

a. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive 
Plan as major collector or arterial; 

b. The use and location is consistent with the community facilities element of the 
Comprehensive Plan; and 

c. No use may exceed a ratio of 3.0 SAC units per 3.5 acres or 235 gallons per 
day per net acre of land based on design capacity of all facilities, whichever is 
more restrictive 

4. Libraries and museums (public and private), provided that: 

a. No use may exceed a ratio of 3.0 SAC units per 3.5 acres or 235 gallons per 
day per net acre of land based on design capacity of all facilities, whichever is 
more restrictive; 

b. For private facilities, a plan is provided, together with a declaration and 
covenants to run with the title to the land, that prescribes perpetual 
maintenance, insurance and ownership responsibilities for all facilities and 
land area; and 

c. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive 
Plan as a major collector or arterial. 

5. Public and private schools (except licensed day care), provided that: 

a. No use may exceed a ratio of 3.0 SAC units per 3.5 acres or 235 gallons per 
day per net acre of land based on design capacity of all facilities, whichever is 
more restrictive; and 

b. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive 
Plan as a major collector or arterial. 

6. Historic sites and interpretive centers, provided that: 

a. Direct access is provided to a public street classified by the Comprehensive 
Plan as a major collector or arterial; and 

b. No use may exceed a ratio of 3.0 SAC units per 3.5 acres or 235 gallons per 
day per net acre of land based on design capacity of all facilities, whichever is 
more restrictive. 

C. Uses Allowed by Interim Use Permit.  The keeping of horses in conjunction with 
churches provided that: 



 

1. The keeping of horses does not constitute a feedlot per Minn. Rules. 

2. The property is directly adjacent to only Agricultural (A) and Rural Residential 
(RR) zoned properties that are not developed as open space preservation 
subdivisions. Roadways shall be considered an adequate buffer. 

3. Evidence is provided to show adherence to all livestock and horse regulations in 
city code. 

D. Accessory Uses and Structures.  Uses and structures, which are clearly incidental and 
subordinate to the principal permitted uses and structures.  All exterior materials of 
accessory structures must be the same as those of the principal structure. 

E. Minimum district requirements. 

1. District requirements in PF Zoning District. 

District Requirements in PF Zoning Districta 

 With Structure Without Structure 

Maximum Parcel Area 20 N.A. 

Lot Width – Minimum: 100 Feet N.A. 

Lot Depth – Minimum: 150 Feet N.A. 

Primary Structure Setback from Property Line 

Front – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Side (Interior) – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Side (Corner) – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Rear – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Accessory Structure Setback from Property Line 

Front – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Side (Interior) – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Side (Corner) – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Rear – Minimum: 50 Feet N.A. 

Principal Structure Height - 50 Feet – Structure Side Walls Not N.A. 



 

Maximum to Exceed 3.5 feet 

Accessory Structure Height - 
Maximum 

35 Feet – Structure Side Walls Not 
to Exceed 18 Feet 

N.A. 

Unoccupied Structure Above 
the Highest Point of the Roof 

25 Feet - 

Septic Drainfield Regulations See §§51.002 through §§51.008 See §§51.002 through §§51.008 

Signage See §§154.212 See §§154.212 

 

a. Essential services shall be exempt from the minimum district requirements of 
the PF Zoning District. 

2. Maximum lot area, buffer width and impervious coverage shall be in compliance 
with the following table: 

Maximum Parcel Areaa Buffer Width (Feet) 
Maximum Impervious Site 
Coverage 

0 to 5 acres 50 39.5% 

5.1 to 10 acres 100 38% 

10.1 to 20 acres 150 35% 

  

a. Essential services shall be exempt from the buffering requirements of the PF 
Zoning District. 

F. Performance standards. 

1. Generally 

a. Architectural Standards 

i. It is the purpose and intent of the city, by the adoption of the 
performance standards of this division (F), to ensure commercial 
buildings constructed within the city are of a high quality of exterior 
appearance, consistent with the terms of Non-Residential Development 
Policy #5 of the 2000-2010 Lake Elmo Comprehensive Plan.  It is the 
finding of the city that a limited selection of primary exterior surfacing 
materials meets this standard of quality. 

ii. It is the further finding of the city that several specific exterior 
surfacing materials are appropriate, and of sufficient quality, to be 
utilized only as accent materials in varying percentages.  The 



 

variations of percentage of specific accent materials relates to a finding 
by the city as to the relative quality and rural character of those 
respective accent materials. 

b. Architectural and Site Plan Submittals.  New building proposals shall include 
architectural and site plans prepared by registered architect and shall show the 
following as a minimum: 

i. Elevations of all sides of the buildings; 

ii. Type and color of exterior building materials; 

iii. Typical general floor plans; 

iv. Dimensions of all structures; and 

v. Location of trash containers, heating, cooling and ventilation 
equipment and systems. 

c.  Applicability – structure additions and renovation. 

i. Additions to existing structures resulting in an increase of gross floor 
area of the structure of less than 100%; and/or installation of 
replacement exterior surfacing any portion of an existing structure 
shall be exempt from the standards of this subdivision where it is 
found that the new or replacement exterior surfacing proposed is 
identical to that of the existing structure. 

ii. Where additions to an existing structure result in an increase in the 
gross floor area of the existing structure of 100% or greater, the entire 
structure (existing structure and structure addition) shall be subject to 
the standard of this subdivision. 

d. Performance standards – primary exterior surfacing.   

i. The primary exterior surfacing of structures shall be limited to natural 
brick, stone, or glass.  Artificial or thin veneer brick or stone less than 
nominal 4 inches thick shall not qualify as complying with this 
performance standard 

ii. Primary exterior surface shall be defined as not less than 70% of the 
sum of the area of all exterior walls of a structure nominally 
perpendicular to the ground.  All parapet or mansard surfaces 
extending above the ceiling height of the structure shall be considered 
exterior surface for the purposes of this division.  Windows and glass 
doors shall be considered a primary surface, but the sum area of this 
glass shall be deducted from the wall area for purposes of the 70% 
primary/30% accent formulas of this section.  Doors of any type of 
material, except glass, shall not be considered a primary exterior 
surface. 

iii. Each wall of the structure shall be calculated separately and, 
individually comply with the 70/30 formula. 



 

e.  Performance Standard – Exterior Surfacing Accents.  Not more than 30% of 
the exterior wall surfacing, as defined by division (F)(1)(d) above may be of 
the following listed accent materials, but no single accent material, except 
natural wood, may comprise more than 20% of the total of all accent 
materials; and no combustible materials shall be used: 

i. Cedar, redwood, wood siding 

ii. Cement fiber board; 

iii. Standing seam metal; 

iv. Architectural metal; 

v. Stucco; 

vi. Poured in place concrete (excluding “tilt-up” panels); 

vii. Architectural metal panels; and  

(Am. Ord. 97-172, passed 6-20-2006) 

viii. Porcelain or ceramic tile. 

f. Performance Standards – Accessory Structures.  All accessory structures 
shall comply with the exterior surfacing requirements specified by this 
division. 

g. Performance Standard – HVAC Units and Exterior Appurtenances.  All 
exterior equipment, HVAC and trash/recycling and dock areas shall be 
screened from view of the public with the primary exterior materials used on 
the principal structure 

h. Performance Standard – Visible Roofing Materials.  Any roofing materials 
that are visible from ground level shall be standing seam metal, fire-treated 
cedar shakes, ceramic tile, clay tile, concrete, or slate. 

i. Applicability – New Construction.  The standards of this division (F)(1) shall 
be applicable to all structures and buildings constructed in the city, on and 
after the effective date of this division.  The performance standards of this 
division shall not be in any manner minimized by subsequent planned unit 
development plans or agreement. 

(Am. Ord. 97-168, passed 5-2-2006) 

 

2. Parking.  Each site shall be provided with off-street automobile parking as 
follows: 

a. Places of Worship.  One space for each permanent and temporary 4 seats 
based on the design capacity of the main assembly hall.  Facilities as may be 
provided in conjunction with such buildings and uses shall be subject to 
additional requirements that are imposed by the city code. 

b. Facilities for Local, County and State Government.  One space for each 250 
square feet of office area.  Facilities as may be provided in conjunction with 



 

such buildings and uses shall be subject to additional requirements that are 
imposed by the city code. 

c. School, Elementary and Junior High (public or private).  Three spaces for 
each class room. 

d. School, High School (public or private).  One space for each 2 students. 

e. Historic Sites and Interpretive Centers, libraries, and museums (public or 
private).  One space for each 300 square feet of floor area. 

3. Landscaping.  All yard area shall either be landscaped green areas or open and 
left in a natural state.  Yards to be landscaped shall be landscaped attractively 
with lawn, trees, and shrubs in accordance with a plan prepared by a landscape 
architect.  Areas left in a natural state shall be kept free of litter, debris, and 
noxious weeds.  Yards adjoining any residential zone shall contain a buffer area 
consisting of berming, landscaping, and/or fencing for the purpose of screening 
noise, sight, sound, and glare. 

4. Buffering.  Where areas abut residential districts, a buffer area and setback in 
compliance with this division (F) is required.  The buffer requirement shall be 
applicable to any interior parcel property line, and not applied to property lines 
abutting improved public streets.  No public/private streets or driveways, or off-
street parking facilities may be located in the buffer area.  The buffer area shall be 
completely defined and designed, and approved by the city prior to all final city 
approvals for construction on site.  Prior to the issuance of a building permit or 
commencement of any improvements on site, the owner shall provide the city 
with a financial security for a minimum of 24 months unless a shorter term of 
security is specifically approved by the City Council, approved by the City 
Attorney, to assure construction of the buffer area.  All landscaping shall comply 
with § 151.070. 

5. Signage.  All signs shall comply with § 151.121 of this Code.  

6. Lighting.  All lighting shall comply with §§ 150.035 through 150.038. 

7. Traffic.  All applications for a building permit responsive to the requirements of 
this section shall include a detailed report, certified by a registered engineer, 
demonstrating the extent of and quantitative impact on public roads from 
forecasted traffic of the use, based on ITE average daily and peak hour/event 
traffic.  Forecasted traffic generation within the design capacity of an impacted 
public street, as determined by the City Engineer, shall be the primary 
determinant for approval of the site plan. 

(Am. Ord. 97-62, passed 9-5-2000; Am. Ord. 97-192, passed 6-19-2007; Am. Ord. 97-204, 
passed 12-11-2007) 

 

 

 



 

Effective Date 

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and publication in the official 
newspaper of the City of Lake Elmo. 
 
Adoption Date 
This Ordinance No. _____ was adopted on this 19 day of January, 2016, by a vote of _ Ayes and 
_ Nays. 
 

 _________________________________ 
 Mayor Mike Pearson 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Clark Schroeder 
Interim Administrator 

 
 
This Ordinance No. __-___ was published on the ___ day of ____, 2016.  
 



MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE:  1/19/2016 
REGULAR  #18 

MOTION  

AGENDA ITEM: Rezone Inwood Booster Station to PF Zoning District

SUBMITTED BY: Stephen Wensman, Planning Director 

THROUGH: Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 

REVIEWED BY: Jack Griffin 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Report/Presentation .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................................ Mayor Facilitates 
- Public Input, if Appropriate ................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
- Call for Motion .............................................................................. Mayor & City Council 
- Discussion ..................................................................................... Mayor & City Council 
- Action on Motion .................................................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

The City of Lake Elmo is requesting the rezoning of the Inwood Booster Station property, PID# 
21.029.21.31.0002 from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public Zoning District with the 
following motion:   

“Move to approve Ordinance 08 - __ approving a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone the Inwood Booster Station property, PID# 21.029.21.31.0002   from RR 

-Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi Public”. 

BACKGROUND AND STAFF REPORT:  

The City of Lake Elmo negotiated the sale of property for the 75 foot x 90 foot, .16 acre, Inwood 
Booster Station to be located adjacent to CSAH 13 (Inwood Avenue). A 15 foot setback from the 
current roadway easement is being preserved for future County right-of-way as required in the 
County’s Comprehensive Plan, leaving a 75 foot x 75 foot parcel upon which to site the booster 
station.  Public facilities, such as the Booster Station, should be zoned PF–Public or Semi-Public 
as guided in the Comprehensive Plan.  

On January 11, 2016, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to rezone the parcel from 
RR - Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi Public.  At the public hearing, two residents spoke: 
Mr. Vejtruba, 8457 26th St. N, and Mr. Eberhard, the former land owner that negotiated with the 
city of the sale of the .16 acre parcel. Both residents asked questions of the planning commission, 



but neither opposed the rezoning. The Planning Commission recommended approval of the 
rezoning. 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

The Inwood Booster Station is part of a 3.5 million dollar public project. The City has invested 18 
months of staff time, $45,000 in site acquisition, plus engineering and design of the facility. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

The City of Lake Elmo is requesting the rezoning of the Inwood Booster Station property, PID# 
21.029.21.31.0002 from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public Zoning District with the 
following motion:   

“Move to approve Ordinance 08 - __ approving a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone the Inwood Booster Station property, PID# 21.029.21.31.0002   from RR 

-Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi Public”. 

ATTACHMENT(S):  

 Planning Commission 1/11/2016 Planning Report

 Inwood Booster Station Exhibit

 Location Map



T
T

T

T

T

T
T

T

T

T

W

T

T

W

>>

>
>

>

>

>
>

EXHIBIT L

EXHIBIT L

09880003

WASHINGTON COUNTY, MN

CITY OF LAKE ELMO

INWOOD BOOSTER STATION

PLOT DATE:

NO. DATE
REVISION

SHEET

FILE NO.

12/18/15,  P:\9800s\9880s\9880\09880003\CADD\C3D\9880003 Design.dwg

BY

Registration No.

Date

ENGINEER

DATE REGNO

. .
.

. .
.

.
.

.

.

.

.

CES

LAJ

.

09880003

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT NO.:

PROJECT DATE:

SCALE:

DRAWN BY:

AS SHOWN

F.B. :
.

.
.

612-548-3132  1-866-452-9454  Fax: 763-786-4574

60 Plato Boulevard East  St. Paul, MN 55107

Web Address: www.msa-ps.com

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

0

20
5 10

PROPERTY LINE

APPROX. 1006.0

@ ROAD EDGE

I
N

W
O

O
D

 
 
 
A

V
E

N
U

E
 
 
 
N

O
R

T
H

15' DRIVE @ 5.35% SLOPE

8' x 16'

GENERATOR PAD

15.00'

75.00'

20.44'

54.56'

75'

7
5
'

39.33'

2
5
.
3
3

'

15' CONSTRUCTION

EASEMENT

FFE=1010'

1
0
1
5

1
0
1
5

1
0
1
1

1
0
0
9

1
0
0
8

1
0
0
7

1

0

0

6

1

0

0

5

1

0

0

6

1

0

0

7

SURFACE INLET

STRUCTURE

FLARED END SECTION

DISCHARGE TO EX. DITCH

1
0
1
0

1

0

1

4

1

0

1

4

1

0

1

3

1
0
1
2

1
0
1
1

5' x 5'

TRANSFORMER PAD

48" MAX

RETAINING WALL

1
0
1
2

1
0
1
3

1
0
1
4

1
0
1
0

1
0
0
9

1

0

0

9

2
2
.
0
0
'



PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
DATE: 01/11/16 
AGENDA ITEM:  5c/d – PUBLIC HEARING 
CASE #2015-45 

City of Lake Elmo Planning Department 
PF Zoning District Text Amendment – Rezoning to PF Zoning District 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Stephen Wensman, City Planner 

Meeting Date: January 11, 2016 

Applicant: City of Lake Elmo   

Legal Address: All that part of the North 75.00 feet of the East 150.00 feet of the North ½ of the 
SW ¼ of Section 21, Township 29 North, Range 21 West, Washington County, 
Minnesota, which lies westerly of the west line of Parcel 3 of the 
WASHINGTON COUNTY HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY PLAT NO. 98 – 
C.S.A.H. 13, according to the recorded plat thereof. 

PID# 21.029.21.31.0002 

Owner: City of Lake Elmo 

Comprehensive 
Plan: 

Public or Semi Public 

Summary and Request: 

Application 
Summary: 

Recommendation: 

The City of Lake Elmo is requesting a zoning text amendment to exempt essential 
services from the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-
Public Zoning District.  In addition, the city is requesting the rezoning of the Inwood 
Booster Station property from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District.   

Staff is recommending that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the 
zoning text amendment to exempt essential services from the dimensional and 
buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-Public Zoning District, and 
recommend approval of the rezoning of the Inwood Booster Station property, 
PID# 21.029.21.31.0002, from Rural Residential to PF – Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District with the following motions:  

1) Move to approve a zoning text amendment exempting essential services
from the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or
Semi-Public Zoning District.



2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 
 

2) Move to approve a rezoning of Inwood Booster Station property from RR- 
Rural Residential to PF- Public and Semi-Public Zoning District.

  

Attachments: 
 
 
 
 

Location Map 

Draft Ordinance Amendment 97-__ 

Property Exhibit. 

 
Zoning Text Amendment and Rezoning 

Review: The City of Lake Elmo negotiated the sale of property for the 75 foot x 90 foot, .16 
acre, Inwood Booster Station to be located adjacent to CSAH 13 (Inwood Avenue). A 
15 foot setback from the current roadway easement is being preserved for future 
County right-of-way as required in the County’s Comprehensive Plan, leaving a 75 
foot x 75 foot parcel upon which to site the booster station.  The Inwood Booster 
Station is an essential part of the city’s water distribution system. By definition, public 
utilities are considered  an essential service in the City Code of Ordinances:  

§  154.012, Subd. B, 11 

ESSENTIAL SERVICES.  Underground or overhead gas, electric, steam, or water 
distribution systems; collection, communication, supply, or disposal system, 
including poles, wires, mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarm 
boxes, police call boxes, traffic signals, hydrants, or other similar equipment and 
accessories, but not including buildings or transmission services. 

 
Essential services are a permitted use in all zoning districts, however, the City’s 
comprehensive plan guides publicly owned facilities, such as essential services to the 
PF Zoning District. 
 

§ 154.203 ESSENTIAL SERVICES.  
Essential services as defined by this Ordinance are permitted in any district, provided 
that a site plan for any new or expanded service facility is filed with the Planning 
Department. The City Council may require site plan review of large facilities, upon the 
recommendation of the Planning Director. 
 

The original parcel and the newly created parcel for the Inwood Booster Station are 
presently zoned RR-Rural Residential. The new Inwood Booster Station parcel should 
be zoned PF – Public or Semi-Public as guided in the city’s comprehensive plan.  
 
Upon review of the proposed rezoning to PF – Public or Semi-Public, it became 
apparent that the new parcel was non-conforming with the PF Zoning District 
dimensional, and buffer requirements.  The requirements are important for most land 
uses, however, essential services are generally incidental and subordinate to the 
surrounding land uses, whatever they may be.  In addition, it serves the welfare of the 
public to have the least amount of property in public ownership while serving the 



3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEM 5c/d – ACTION ITEM 
 

essential needs of the public.  For this reason, the City is requesting the amendment to 
exempt essential services from the district’s dimensional, and buffer requirements of 
the PF Zoning District. 
 
The PF District requirements are as follows: 
 

Minimum Lot Width: 100 feet 
Minimum Lot Depth: 150 feet 
Setbacks from property lines: 50 feet 
Buffer Requirement: 50 feet 
 

As part of the purchase agreement, the city has the right to provide landscaping within 
the first 15 feet to the south and west of the parcel, upon permission for right of entry 
by the seller. The City is planning to provide a landscape screening of the Inwood 
Booster Station parcel. 

 
 
Recommendation: 

 
 
 
 
 

Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the zoning text 
amendment and zoning map amendment with the following motions: 

3) Move to approve a zoning text amendment exempting essential services from 
the dimensional and buffer requirements of the PF - Public or Semi-Public 
Zoning District. 
 

4) Move to approve a rezoning of Inwood Booster Station property from RR- 
Rural Residential to PF- Public and Semi-Public Zoning District. 

  
 



 
             MAYOR & COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

 

 -- page 1 -- 

 
 
        DATE:          January 19, 2016 
        REGULAR    
        ITEM #           19 
            
AGENDA ITEM: Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements– Approve Plans and Specifications, 

Calling Hearing on Improvement, and Order Advertisement for Bids  
  
SUBMITTED BY: Chad Isakson, Project Engineer 
 
THROUGH:  Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 
 
REVIEWED BY: Jack Griffin, City Engineer 
  Mike Bouthilet, Public Works    
 

 
SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................. City Engineer 

- Report/Presentation .................................................................................. City Engineer 

- Questions from Council to Staff ......................................................... Mayor Facilitates 

- Public Input, if Appropriate .............................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

- Call for Motion ............................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Discussion ....................................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Action on Motion .................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
 
 
POLICY RECOMMENDER:  Engineering. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None. 
 
The total estimated cost for the Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements is $2,000,000.  The project is 
being completed in conjunction with the Inwood Water Booster Station Improvement which will be bid as 
a separate construction package.  The project is scheduled to be paid through a combination of the City’s 
Water Enterprise Fund, bonding and MN-DEED Water System Grant. 
 
Approval of this resolution does not commit the council to the project costs.  Once contractor bids are 
received, the actual construction costs will be known and the council will be asked to consider entering 
into a contract to complete the work. 
 
SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED:   
 
The City Council is respectfully requested to consider approving the plans and specifications, calling 
hearing on improvement, and ordering the advertisement for bids for the Inwood Trunk Watermain 
Improvements.  The recommended motion for this action is as follows: 



City Council Meeting  [Regular Agenda Item 19] 
January 19, 2016   
 

-- page 2 -- 

 
“Move to approve Resolution No. 2016-04, approving the plans and specifications, calling hearing on 

improvement and ordering the advertisement for bids for the Inwood Trunk Watermain 
Improvements.” 

 
LEGISLATIVE HISTORY/BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
 
In accordance with the 2016 Capital Improvement Plan, the city is extending trunk watermain along 
Inwood Avenue to deliver city water service to support growth and development along the I-94 corridor.  
This project serves the new developments between Keats Avenue and Inwood Avenue which includes 
Savona (Lennar), Boulder Ponds (Excellsior), Hammes Estates, Inwood PUD (Hans Hagen), and the 
existing properties within the Eagle Point Business Park.  
 
On January 21, 2014, the council authorized the preparation of plans and specifications for the Inwood 
Avenue Trunk Watermain Improvements.  Then on April 15, 2014 the project was put on hold and the bid 
date delayed until such a time that the City Administrator could secure the MN-DEED Water System 
Grant. The project funding has now been secured and the design consultant, MSA Professional Services, 
Inc., has updated the construction documents for the improvements to be constructed in 2016. 
 
Plans and Specifications have been completed for the Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements. The 
Engineer’s opinion of total project cost is 2,000,000.  The improvements include: 
 

• Extension of a 16-inch diameter trunk watermain along Inwood Avenue from 26th Street North to 
Eagle Point Boulevard, connecting to the existing water system in the Eagle Point Business Park. 

• At the direction of the city council, the project does not include water service to the Parkview 
Estates neighborhood. 

• Installation of 2 service stubs to existing properties along Inwood Avenue to provide property 
owners the opportunity to connect to municipal water. 

• Traffic control, erosion control, cleanup and restoration. 
 
A feasibility report for this project was adopted by council on December 3, 2013. The report identified an 
opportunity to provide water service to residents in the Parkview Estates neighborhood. A public hearing 
for improvements was held on January 21, 2014 at which time the council heard from property owners in 
the neighborhood that they were not interested in City Water. At the conclusion of the hearing, Council 
directed staff to remove this scope from the proposed improvements. 
 
Two properties along Inwood Avenue have been identified to be assessed a $5,800 lateral benefit 
assessment since the trunk watermain will be placed adjacent to their residence. It is Staff’s 
recommendation to call a hearing for improvements to follow the assessment proceedings identified in 
State Statute 429. Of these two properties, one assessment will be waived per the land purchase 
agreement for the Booster Station site.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
Staff is recommending that the City Council approve the plans and specifications, call a hearing on the 
improvements, and order the advertisement for bids for the Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements.  
The recommended motion for this action is as follows: 
 



City Council Meeting  [Regular Agenda Item 19] 
January 19, 2016   
 

-- page 3 -- 

“Move to approve Resolution No. 2016-04, approving the plans and specifications, calling hearing on 
improvement, and ordering the advertisement for bids for the Inwood Trunk Watermain 

Improvements.” 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
 

1. Resolution 2016-04 Approving Plans and Specifications, Calling Hearing on Improvement, and 
Ordering Advertisement for Bids 

2. Location Map. 
3. Project Schedule. 
4. Notice of Improvement Hearing Publication 
5. Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements Plans and Specification (available for review at City 

Hall). 
 



Resolution No. 2016-04 1 

CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
WASHINGTON COUNTY 
STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-04 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS, 
CALLING HEARING ON IMPROVEMENT, AND ORDERING 

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS FOR THE  
INWOOD TRUNK WATERMAIN IMPROVEMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to City Council authorization, adopted on August 6, 2013, a 

feasibility report was prepared by FOCUS Engineering, Inc. for a booster station and 
improvements of trunk watermain facilities along Inwood Avenue N, from 26th Street to Eagle 
Point Business Park in order to provide access to the municipal water system; and  

 
WHEREAS, the feasibility report recommends that connection service stubs be installed 

to properties located adjacent to the watermain improvements and recommends that a portion of 
the cost of the improvements be assessed pursuant to the City’s Special Assessment Policy and 
Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 429; and 

 
WHEREAS, the feasibility report provides information regarding whether the proposed 

improvement is necessary, cost-effective, and feasible; whether it should best be made as 
proposed or in connection with some other improvement; the estimated cost of the improvements 
as recommended; and a description of the methodology used to calculate individual assessments 
for affected parcels; and 

 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was previously held on these proposed improvements on 

January 21, 2014 at which the City Council provided direction to eliminate the scope of 
improvements identified in the report to extend water service into Parkview Estates; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution passed by the City Council on the 21st day of 

January 2014, the City Engineer, together with MSA Professional Services, Inc. has prepared 
plans and specifications for the Inwood Trunk Watermain Improvements and has presented such 
plans and specifications to the Council for approval; and 

 
WHEREAS, the public improvement hearing must be re-held since more than 12 months 

have passed. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED,  
 

1. Such plans and specifications, a copy of which is on file at Lake Elmo City Hall, and 
made a part hereof, are hereby approved. 

2. The City Clerk shall prepare and cause to be inserted in the official paper and posted 
online with Quest Construction Data Network (QuestCDN.com) an advertisement for 
bids upon the making of such improvements under such approved plans and 
specifications.  The advertisement shall be published for at least 21 days, shall specify the 



Resolution No. 2016-04 2 

work to be done, and shall state that sealed bids provided to the City Clerk prior to the 
specified bid date and time and accompanied by a bid bond or cashier’s check made 
payable to the City of Lake Elmo in an amount not less than 5% of the amount of such 
bid will be considered. 

3. That the City Council will consider the improvements in accordance with the report and 
the assessments of the abutting properties for all or a portion of the cost of the 
improvements pursuant to Minnesota Statues, Chapter 429 at an estimated total project 
cost of $2,000,000. 

4. A public hearing shall be held on such proposed improvements on the 1st day of March, 
2016, in the council chambers of the City Hall at or approximately after 7:00 P.M. and 
the clerk shall give mailed and published notice of such hearing and improvement as 
required by law. 
 

ADOPTED BY THE LAKE ELMO CITY COUNCIL ON THE NINETEENTH DAY OF 

JANUARY 2016.  
       CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
 
        

By: __________________________ 
  Mike Pearson 
 Mayor 
(Seal) 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Julie Johnson 
City Clerk 



PROJECT SCHEDULE 
CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
 
 
INWOOD TRUNK WATERMAIN IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT NO. 2014.130 
 

 

FOCUS ENGINEERING, inc. 

Cara Geheren, P.E.  651.300.4261 
Jack Griffin, P.E.              651.300.4264 
Ryan Stempski, P.E. 651.300.4267 
Chad Isakson, P.E. 651.300.4283 
 

January 2016            
 
August 6, 2013 Council orders preparation of a Feasibility Report. 
 
December 3, 2013 Presentation of Feasibility Report. Council accepts Report and calls Hearing. 
 
January 21, 2014 Public Improvement Hearing. Council Orders the Improvement for the Inwood Trunk 

Watermain Improvments and the preparation of Plans and Specifications.  
 
April 15, 2014 Council approves Plans and Specifications and orders Advertisement for Bids at the 

direction of the City Administrator. 
 

Project was delayed due to delay in receipt of MN-DEED Water System Grant. Per State Statute, 
contractor bids must be received for the project within one-year of ordering the improvement. 
Therefore a new Public Improvement Hearing must be held. 

 
 
January 19, 2016 Council approves Plans and Specifications; orders Ad for Bids; and calls Hearing. 
 
February 18, 2016 Receive Contractor Bids. 
 
March 1, 2016 Public Improvement Hearing. Council Orders the Improvement for the Inwood Trunk 

Watermain Improvments. Council accepts bids and awards contract. 
 
April 7, 2016 Conduct Pre-construction meeting and issue Notice to Proceed. 
 
August 26, 2016 Substantial Completion (watermain online and operational). 
 
September 30, 2016 Final Completion (punch list and final paperwork). 
 
 



CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
NOTICE OF HEARING ON IMPROVEMENT 

INWOOD AVENUE TRUNK WATERMAIN IMPROVEMENTS 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Lake Elmo will meet in the council 
chambers of the city hall at or approximately after 7:00 P.M. on Tuesday, March 1, 2016, 
to consider the making of the following improvements, pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, 
Sections 429.011 to 429.111; 
 

The improvement will consist of extending the water system approximately 2.1 
miles south along Inwood Avenue beginning at 26th Street North and ending at 
Eagle Point Boulevard. This improvement will provide municipal water service to 
developing properties in the southwest part of the City. Individual service stubs 
will be installed to properties with existing homes that are located adjacent to the 
watermain improvements. Fire hydrants will be installed along the corridor, 
providing increased fire suppression capabilities in the extended service area. 

 
The area proposed to be assessed for these improvements include the properties with 
existing residences and located along Inwood Avenue directly abutting the location of the 
proposed watermain improvements. The estimated total cost of the improvements is 
$2,000,000. A reasonable estimate of the impact of the assessment will be available at the 
hearing. Such persons as desire to be heard with reference to the proposed improvements 
will be heard at this meeting.  
 
DATED: January 19, 2016 
 

BY ORDER OF THE LAKE ELMO CITY COUNCIL 
 

Mike Pearson, Mayor 
 

(Published in the Oakdale-Lake Elmo Review on January 27, 2016 and February 3, 2016) 





 MAYOR & COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

-- page 1 -- 

DATE:         January 19, 2016 
REGULAR 
ITEM #        20 

AGENDA ITEM: Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) – Approve Plans and Specifications and Order 
Advertisement for Bids  

SUBMITTED BY: Chad Isakson, Project Engineer 

THROUGH: Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 

REVIEWED BY: Jack Griffin, City Engineer 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................. City Engineer 

- Report/Presentation .................................................................................. City Engineer 

- Questions from Council to Staff ......................................................... Mayor Facilitates 

- Public Input, if Appropriate .............................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

- Call for Motion ............................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Discussion ....................................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Action on Motion .................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 

POLICY RECOMMENDER:  Engineering. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None. 

The total estimated project cost for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) Improvement is $3,200,000.  The 
improvements are scheduled for construction in 2016 as part of the City’s Capital Improvement Plan. 
The Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) will be partially funded using MN-DEED Grant funds and partially 
funded through the issuance of general obligation bonds with bond payments made from the water 
enterprise fund. 

Approval of this resolution does not commit the council to the project costs.  Once contractor bids are 
received, the actual construction costs will be known and the council will be asked to consider entering 
into a contract to complete the work. 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

The City Council is respectfully requested to consider approving the plans and specifications and ordering 
the advertisement for bids for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4).  The recommended motion for this action 
is as follows: 



City Council Meeting [Regular Agenda Item 20] 
January 19, 2016 

-- page 2 -- 

“Move to approve Resolution No. 2016-03, approving the plans and specifications and ordering the 
advertisement for bids for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4).” 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY/BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

The Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) is an elevated storage tank that will provide water supply and fire 
suppression storage for the City’s high pressure zone in the southwest portion of the City.  The facility 
will be construction on a 1.5 acre lot located along Inwood Avenue approximately half-way between 10th 
Street and 15th Street.  This site was purchased by the City in 2015. 

The City retained the engineering design consultant (SEH) to complete a preliminary design evaluation 
for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4), including recommendations for storage volume requirements and to 
evaluate the capital and life cycle costs for the two most common elevated tank styles.  Following the 
direction of the Council on November 11, 2015 the final design was prepared for a 1.0 Million Gallon 
(MG) Composite Elevated Water Storage Tank.  The composite style tank matches Water Tower No. 2 
near the Public Works building. 

Plans and Specifications have been completed for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) Improvements.  The 
design engineer’s post design total estimated project cost is $3,200,000.  The improvements will be 
partially funded using MN-DEED Grant funds and partially funded through the issuance of general 
obligation bonds with bond payments made from the water enterprise fund. 

Mezzanine spaces are often added in elevated storage tanks to provide space for telecommunication 
companies to locate their equipment interior to the tank. Inclusion of the mezzanine would potentially 
eliminate the need for telecommunication companies to install buildings on the grounds exterior to the 
tower if they seek the ability to install an antenna on the tank. The project has been designed to include 
the mezzanine space as an alternate bid for the Council to consider. The construction cost is estimated to 
add $130,000 on top of the $3,200,000 number presented in this report. Staff will present more 
information regarding this amenity at the meeting for Council discussion. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff is recommending that the City Council approve the plans and specifications and order the 
advertisement for bids for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4).  The recommended motion for this action is 
as follows: 

“Move to approve Resolution No. 2016-03, approving the plans and specifications and ordering the 
advertisement for bids for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4).” 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Resolution 2016-03 Approving Plans and Specifications and Ordering Advertisement for Bids
2. Location Map.
3. Project Schedule.
4. Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) Plans and Specification (available for review at City Hall).



Resolution No. 2016-03 1 

CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
WASHINGTON COUNTY 
STATE OF MINNESOTA 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-03 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS AND 
ORDERING ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS FOR THE  
INWOOD WATER TOWER (NO. 4) IMPROVEMENTS 

WHEREAS, on October 6, 2015 the City Council directed the City Engineer, together 
with SEH, Inc. to prepare plans and specifications for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) 
Improvements, and 

WHEREAS, plans and specifications for the Inwood Water Tower (No. 4) 
Improvements have been prepared for a 1,000,000 million gallon composite style water tower to 
be located on property recently purchased by the City along Inwood Avenue, between 10th Street 
and 15th Street. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, 

1. Such plans and specifications, a copy of which is on file at Lake Elmo City Hall, and
made a part hereof, are hereby approved.

2. The City Clerk shall prepare and cause to be inserted in the official paper and posted
online with Quest Construction Data Network (QuestCDN.com) an advertisement for
bids upon the making of such improvements under such approved plans and
specifications.  The advertisement shall be published for at least 21 days, shall specify the
work to be done, and shall state that sealed bids provided to the City Clerk prior to the
specified bid date and time and accompanied by a bid bond or cashier’s check made
payable to the City of Lake Elmo in an amount not less than 5% of the amount of such
bid will be considered.

ADOPTED BY THE LAKE ELMO CITY COUNCIL ON THE NINETEENTH DAY OF 

JANUARY 2016.  
CITY OF LAKE ELMO 

By: __________________________ 
Mike Pearson 
Mayor 

(Seal) 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Julie Johnson 
City Clerk 



80 foot R/W

1.5 acres



PROJECT SCHEDULE 
CITY OF LAKE ELMO 
 
INWOOD WATER TOWER (NO. 4) 
PROJECT NO. 2015.130 
 

 

FOCUS ENGINEERING, inc. 

Cara Geheren, P.E.  651.300.4261 
Jack Griffin, P.E.              651.300.4264 
Ryan Stempski, P.E. 651.300.4267 
Chad Isakson, P.E. 651.300.4283 
 

JANUARY 2016            
 
October 6, 2015 Council approves consultant selection. 
 
November 17, 2015 Preliminary Design. Council accepts preliminary design recommendations (water 

tower style, materials, and site plan). 
 
January 19, 2016 Council approves Plans and Specifications and orders Advertisement for Bids. 
 
February 18, 2016 Receive Contractor Bids. 
 
March 1, 2016  Council accepts Bids and awards Contract. 
 
April 7, 2016  Conduct Pre-construction meeting and issue Notice to Proceed. 
 
October 1, 2017 Substantial Completion (water tower online and operational). 
 
November 3, 2017 Final Completion (punch list and final paperwork). 
 
 



 
             MAYOR & COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

 

 -- page 1 -- 

 
 
        DATE:    January 19, 2016 
        REGULAR    
        ITEM #    21 
            
AGENDA ITEM: Library Board Appointments 
  
SUBMITTED BY: Julie Johnson, City Clerk 
 
THROUGH:  Clark Schroeder, Interim City Administrator 
 
REVIEWED BY: Nate Deprey, Library Director; Clark Schroeder 
 
 
SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .............................................................. City Administrator 

- Report/Presentation…………………………………………City Administrator 

- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................. Mayor Facilitates 

- Call for Motion ............................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Discussion ....................................................................... Mayor & City Council 

- Action on Motion .................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 
 
SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: The terms of Library Board Members Steve 
DeLapp and Sarah Linder expired December 31, 2015.  Both have indicated that they would like 
to be reappointed to the Board, and Alternate Margot Seileni would like to be appointed as a full 
Board Member.  Additionally, Tom DeGree has applied to fill a vacancy that currently exists on 
the Board.   
 
LEGISLATIVE HISTORY:  The Library Board took action at its January 13th meeting to 
eliminate the alternate positions and increase the Board from 7 members to 9 members.  If the 
Council chooses to reappoint Steve DeLapp and Sarah Linder and appoint Margot Seileni and 
Tom DeGree, the Board will have 8 Members and one vacancy.  The newly appointed and 
reappointed  Members would serve three year terms that would expire December 31, 2018.   
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION (SWOT): 
 
Strengths   Appointing volunteers to fill vacancies on the Library Board ensures a 
quorum will be available at the meetings 



City Council Meeting  [Regular Agenda Item]  
January 19, 2016   
 

-- page 2 -- 

Weaknesses  There are no identified weaknesses. 
Opportunities Filling current vacancies on the Library Board 
Threats   There are no identified threats. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   Staff recommends filling vacancies on the Library Board with the 
following motion:  
 

“Motion to reappoint Steve DeLapp and Sarah Linder to the Library Board and 
appoint Margot Seileni and Tom Degree to the Library Board.” 
 

Additionally, staff recommends Council direct staff to post the vacant Library Board position on 
the City website and FRESH weekly email.   

 
 
 



MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE:  1/19/16 
        REGULAR    
        ITEM #:  22 
        MOTION   

 
AGENDA ITEM: Bureau of Mediation Services process  

SUBMITTED BY: Mike Pearson 

THROUGH:  Clark Schroeder 

REVIEWED BY: Clark Schroeder 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Report/Presentation .................................................................................................... Staff  
- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................................ Mayor Facilitates 
- Public Input, if Appropriate ................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
- Call for Motion .............................................................................. Mayor & City Council 
- Discussion ..................................................................................... Mayor & City Council 
- Action on Motion .................................................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

   

PUBLIC POLICY : Possible meeting management policies could be made 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

Unanimous vote by Council to engage in mediation services with the Bureau of Mediation 
Services (BMS) to improve the working dynamic of the city council. 

BACKGROUND AND STAFF REPORT:  In early August, the League of Minnesota Cities 
(LMC) was contacted to help mediate what was felt at the time as a decrease in working relations 
amongst council members.  The LMC suggested the city work with the BMS to explore common 
ground amongst the council members and decrease conflict.  The LMC and the BMS were 
invited to discuss and mediate council concerns. A number of meetings were held both with full 
council and a sub-set of council members, BMS staff and LMC staff.  These meetings dealt with 
subject matter such as agenda setting, meeting decorum, council roles/lanes versus staff.  At 
some point the BMS felt that progress was stalled and they withdrew from the process.  They are 
willing to come back to the city council when there is full support from all council members to 
develop compromise on an issue which council is currently divided on.   

RECOMMENDATION:  It is the recommendation of the City Administrator that City Council 
invite the BMS back to provide mediation services for the purpose of improving meeting 
management/interaction and agenda setting.  



 

 
 
Motion:   
 

“The Lake Elmo City Council officially requests and invites the LMC and / or the BMS 
to continue working with the Council and city staff in an effort to improve the working 
dynamics of same; specifically, to help council resolve the issue of City Council 
meeting interaction and setting agendas.” 

 

 



MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE:  1/19/16 
        REGULAR    
        ITEM #:  23 
        MOTION   

 
AGENDA ITEM:      Council Role In Recommending Employees For Hire To Council   

SUBMITTED BY: Clark Schroeder 

THROUGH:  Clark Schroeder 

REVIEWED BY: Clark Schroeder 

SUGGESTED ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

- Introduction of Item .................................................................................................... Staff 
- Report/Presentation .................................................................................................... Staff  
- Questions from Council to Staff ............................................................ Mayor Facilitates 
- Public Input, if Appropriate ................................................................... Mayor Facilitates 
- Call for Motion .............................................................................. Mayor & City Council 
- Discussion ..................................................................................... Mayor & City Council 
- Action on Motion .................................................................................. Mayor Facilitates 

   
PUBLIC POLICY STATEMENT: Council has the option to set policy regarding Council role 
in recommending employees to City Council for hire 

SUMMARY AND ACTION REQUESTED: 

Staff Recommend that with the exception of the City Administrator position, city staff interview 
and recommend for employment new hires to city council  

BACKGROUND AND STAFF REPORT:   

Lake Elmo’s City Administrator ordinance states the following. 

§ 31.29  PERSONNEL. 

   (A)   Acts as personnel officer, and is responsible for implementation of city personnel policies 
with the authority to effectively recommend employment, discipline, or removal of city employees 
for Council action; 

It is the opinion of the writer, this ordinance authorizes the City Administrator and his/her staff 
to recommend for employment all new hires.  The involvement of Council Members in advising 
staff after they have sat in on interviews creates undue pressure on the Administrator to 
recommend to the City Council what the City Council Members have already recommended.   

  

javascript:void(0)


 

The city should operate in a fashion so that Council Members all have the same information at 
the same time when asked to make policy decisions. Having individual Council Members 
interview with applicants creates an imbalance of information and knowledge between council 
members.  If council members wish to interview and make recommendations for hire to the City 
Council, all City Council Members should be invited in the interest of equality. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Move to: “With the exception of the City Administrator position, interviewing and 
recommending candidates for employment to the City Council should be made by city staff.” 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): None 

 


	#19 -Inwood Trunk WM- Approve PS and Ad for Bids AGENDA.pdf
	5-Inwood Ave Watermain-Notice of Improvement Hearing.pdf
	BY ORDER OF THE LAKE ELMO CITY COUNCIL
	Mike Pearson, Mayor





